
RUSHMOOR BOROUGH COUNCIL

DEVELOPMENT MANAGEMENT 
COMMITTEE

To be held via Microsoft Teams on
Wednesday, 17th March, 2021 at 7.00 pm

To:

VOTING MEMBERS

Cllr J.H. Marsh (Chairman)
Cllr C.J. Stewart (Vice-Chairman)

Cllr Mrs. D.B. Bedford
Cllr J.B. Canty
Cllr R.M. Cooper

Cllr P.I.C. Crerar
Cllr P.J. Cullum
Cllr K. Dibble

Cllr C.P. Grattan
Cllr Nadia Martin
Cllr B.A. Thomas

NON-VOTING MEMBERS

Cllr Marina Munro (Cabinet Member for Planning and Economy) (ex-officio)

STANDING DEPUTIES

Cllr Sophie Porter
Cllr M.D. Smith

Enquiries regarding this agenda should be referred to Kathy Flatt,
Democracy and Community, 01252 398829 kathy.flatt@rushmoor.gov.uk

Public Document Pack



A G E N D A
1. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST – (Pages 1 - 2)

All Members who believe they have a disclosable pecuniary interest in any matter to 
be considered at the meeting may not participate in any discussion or vote taken on 
the matter and if the interest is not registered it must be disclosed to the meeting. In 
addition, Members are required to leave the meeting while the matter is discussed.

2. MINUTES – (Pages 3 - 10)

To confirm the Minutes of the meeting held on 17th February 2021 (copy attached).

3. PLANNING APPLICATIONS – (Pages 11 - 76)

To consider the Head of Economy, Planning and Strategic Housing’s Report No. 
EPSH2108 (copy attached) on planning applications recently submitted to the 
Council. 

Sections A and B of the report set out the items to be considered at future meetings 
and petitions received:

Item Reference 
Number

Address Recommendation

1 20/00400/FULPP Land at former Lafarge 
Site, Hollybush Lane, 
Aldershot

For information

2 21/00048/REVPP No.1 North Lane,
Aldershot

For information

3 21/00066/FULPP Briarwood, Sorrel
Close, Farnborough

For information

4 21/00108/REMPP Zone K-Stanhope Lines
East and Zone M-Buller
Wellesley, Aldershot
Urban Extension,
Alisons Road, 
Aldershot

For information

Section C of the report sets out planning applications for determination at this 
meeting:

Item Pages Reference
Number

Address Recommendation

5 17 - 49 20/00856/FULPP Land to the rear 
of Nos. 26-40 
Cove Road, 

Grant



Farnborough

6 51 - 64 21/000109/RBCRG3 No. 2A Windsor 
Way, Aldershot

Grant

Section D of the report sets out planning applications which have been determined 
under the Council’s scheme of delegation for information.

4. APPEALS PROGRESS REPORT – (Pages 77 - 78)

To consider the Head of Economy, Planning and Strategic Housing’s Report No. 
EPSH2109 (copy attached) on the progress of recent planning appeals. 

MEETING REPRESENTATION

Members of the public may ask to speak at the meeting, on the planning applications 
that are on the agenda to be determined, by writing to the Committee Administrator 
at the Council Offices, Farnborough by 5.00 pm on the day prior to the meeting, in 

accordance with the Council’s adopted procedure which can be found on the 
Council’s website at 

http://www.rushmoor.gov.uk/speakingatdevelopmentmanagement

-----------

http://www.rushmoor.gov.uk/speakingatdevelopmentmanagement


This page is intentionally left blank



DEVELOPMENT CONTROL COMMITTEE – 17TH MARCH 2021 
DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

 
 
NAME:    COUNCILLOR   ______________________________________  
 

 

N.B.  A declaration is not required for items that appear either in Section D of the Planning Report or the Appeals 
Progress Report as such items are for noting only. 
 

 

 
Agenda 
Item No. 

 
Planning 
Application No. 

 
Application Address 

 

Reason 

 
 
 
 
 
 

   

   
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

   

  

P
age 1

A
G

E
N

D
A

 IT
E

M
 N

o. 1



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

-1- 
 

DEVELOPMENT MANAGEMENT 
COMMITTEE 

 
Meeting held on Wednesday, 17th February, 2021 at 7.00 pm held via Microsoft 
Teams and streamed live. 
 
Voting Members 
 

Cllr J.H. Marsh (Chairman) 
Cllr C.J. Stewart (Vice-Chairman) 

 
Cllr Mrs. D.B. Bedford 

Cllr J.B. Canty 
Cllr R.M. Cooper 
Cllr P.I.C. Crerar 
Cllr P.J. Cullum 
Cllr K. Dibble 

Cllr C.P. Grattan 
Cllr Nadia Martin 
Cllr B.A. Thomas 

 
Non-Voting Member 
 
Cllr Marina Munro (Planning and Economy Portfolio Holder) (ex officio) 
 
 

57. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 
 

Having regard to the Members’ Code of Conduct, the following declaration of interest 
was made:   
 
Member Application No. and Address Interest Reason 
    
Cllr C.J. Stewart 21/00034/FUL (Gurkha Statue, 

Princes Gardens, Aldershot) 
Personal  Acquaintance 

of applicant 
 

58. MINUTES 
 

The Minutes of the meeting held on 20th January, 2021 were approved and signed 
by the Chairman. 
 

59. PLANNING APPLICATIONS 
 

RESOLVED: That 
 
(i) 

 
permission be given to the following application, as set out in Appendix “A” 
attached hereto, subject to the conditions, restrictions and prohibitions (if 
any) mentioned therein: 

Page 3

AGENDA ITEM No. 2



 

-2- 
 

  
21/00034/FUL Gurkha Statue, Princes Gardens, Aldershot 

  
(ii) planning permission/consent be refused in respect of the following 

application, as set out in Appendix “B” attached hereto, for the reasons 
mentioned therein: 

   
* 20/00782/FULPP Nos. 1-7 Elms Road, Aldershot 

  
(iii) the applications dealt with by the Head of Economy, Planning and Strategic 

Housing, where necessary in consultation with the Chairman, in accordance 
with the Council’s Scheme of Delegation, more particularly specified in 
Section “D” of the Head of Economy, Planning and Strategic Housing’s 
Report No. EPSH2105, be noted; 

  
(v) the current position with regard to the following applications be noted 

pending consideration at a future meeting: 
 

 20/00400/FULPP Land at former Lafarge site, Hollybush Lane, 
Farnborough; 

 20/00856/FULPP Land to the rear of Nos. 26-40 Cove Road, 
Farnborough 

 
* The Head of Economy, Planning and Strategic Housing’s Report No. 

EPSH2105 in respect of these applications was amended at the meeting 
 

60. NOS. 1-7 ELMS ROAD, ALDERSHOT 
 

The Committee considered the Head of Economy, Planning and Strategic Housing’s 
Report No. EPSH2105 (as amended at the meeting) regarding the rebuilding of a 
garage workshop (following fire damage) in the same footprint, other than the 
previous unauthorised eastern side extension (amended site layout plan received on 
15th January 2021) at Nos. 1-7 Elms Road, Aldershot. 
 
In discussion, concern was raised regarding the inappropriate location for a garage 
in terms of its impact on neighbouring amenity and the adverse impact on the 
character of the area. 
 
RESOLVED: That 
 
(i) Planning application 20/00782/FULPP (Nos. 1-7 Elms Road, Aldershot) be 

refused; and 
 
(ii) the wording for the reasons for refusal be agreed by the Chairman and Vice-

Chairman based on the discussion outlined above.  
 

61. ENFORCEMENT AND POSSIBLE UNAUTHORISED DEVELOPMENT 
 

The Committee received the Head of Economy, Planning and Strategic Housing’s 
Report No. EPSH2106, which set out details of action taken in respect of an alleged 

Page 4



 

-3- 
 

unauthorised development at No. 12 Harvey Road, Farnborough where a bay 
window had been installed at ground floor level on the front elevation of the house.  
This required planning permission as it was forward of the principal elevation.  
However, had an application been submitted, it was considered that the window 
would have complied with Local Plan policies and, as such, planning permission 
would have been granted. 
 
It was noted that an enforcement notice could be issued to require the removal of the 
bay window, but as the development was considered acceptable, it would not be 
expedient for the Council to take further action. 
 
RESOLVED:  That the Head of Economy, Planning and Strategic Housing’s Report 
No. EPSH2106 be noted. 
 

62. PLANNING (DEVELOPMENT MANAGEMENT) SUMMARY REPORT FOR THE 
QUARTER OCTOBER TO DECEMBER 2020 

 
The Committee received the Head of Economy, Planning and Strategic Housing’s 
Report No. EPSH2107, which provided an update on the position with respect to 
achieving performance indicators for the Development Management Section of 
Economy, Planning and Strategic Housing and the overall workload of the section for 
the quarter from 1st October to 31st December 2020. 
 
RESOLVED: That the Head of Economy, Planning and Strategic Housing’s Report 
No. EPSH2107 be noted. 
 
 
The meeting closed at 8.00 pm. 
 
 
  

CLLR J.H. MARSH (CHAIRMAN) 
 
 
 
 
 

------------ 

Page 5



This page is intentionally left blank



 

Development Management Committee 
 

Appendix “A” 
 

 
Application No. 
& Date Valid: 
 

21/00034/FUL 
 

18th January 2021 
 

Proposal: Erection of a Gurkha memorial statue at Princes Gardens High 
Street Aldershot Hampshire 
 

Applicant: Khim Gauchan 
 
 
Conditions: 
 

 
 
 1 The development hereby permitted shall be begun before 

the expiration of three years from the date of this 
permission.  

  
 Reason - As required by Section 91 of the Town and 

Country Planning Act 1990 as amended by Section 51 of 
the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004.  

 
 2 The permission hereby granted shall be carried out in 

accordance with the following approved drawings 
Drawing numbers:  

  
 Reason - To ensure the development is implemented in 

accordance with the permission granted 
  
  
 

 
 

Page 7



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 
 
 

Appendix “B” 
 

 
 
Application No. 
& Date Valid: 
 

20/00782/FULPP 
 

20th October 2020 
 

Proposal: Rebuilding of garage workshop (following fire damage) in same 
footprint, other than previous unauthorised eastern side 
extension at 1 Elms Road Aldershot Hampshire GU11 1LH 
 

Applicant: Bernie Scully 
 
 
Reasons: 
 

 
 
 1 The proposed development would give rise to a 

development involving activity detrimental to the 
residential amenity of surrounding properties and is 
thereby considered to be unacceptable having regard to 
Policies DE1 and DE10 of the Rushmoor Local Plan.   

 
  
  
 

 

Page 9



This page is intentionally left blank



Development Management 
Committee 17th  March 2021

Head of Economy, Planning 

and Strategic Housing 

Report No.EPSH2108

Planning Applications 

1. Introduction

1.1 This report considers recent planning applications submitted to the Council, 
as the Local Planning Authority, for determination. 

2. Sections In The Report

2.1 The report is divided into a number of sections: 

Section A – FUTURE Items for Committee 

Applications that have either been submitted some time ago but are still not 
ready for consideration or are recently received applications that have been 
received too early to be considered by Committee.  The background papers 
for all the applications are the application details contained in the Part 1 
Planning Register. 

Section B – For the NOTING of any Petitions 

Section C – Items for DETERMINATION 

These applications are on the Agenda for a decision to be made.  Each item 
contains a full description of the proposed development, details of the 
consultations undertaken and a summary of the responses received, an 
assessment of the proposal against current policy, a commentary and 
concludes with a recommendation.  A short presentation with slides will be 
made to Committee.  

Section D – Applications ALREADY DETERMINED under the Council’s 
adopted scheme of Delegation  

This lists planning applications that have already been determined by the 
Head of Economy, Planning and Strategic Housing, and where necessary 
with the Chairman, under the Scheme of Delegation that was approved by the 
Development Management Committee on 17 November 2004.  These 
applications are not for decision and are FOR INFORMATION only. 

2.2 All information, advice and recommendations contained in this report are 
understood to be correct at the time of publication.  Any change in 
circumstances will be verbally updated at the Committee meeting.  Where a 
recommendation is either altered or substantially amended between preparing 
the report and the Committee meeting, a separate sheet will be circulated at 
the meeting to assist Members in following the modifications proposed.  This 
sheet will be available to members of the public. 

Page 11

AGENDA ITEM No. 3



3. Planning Policy

3.1 Section 38(6) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended) 
requires regard to be had to the provisions of the development plan in the 
determination of planning applications. The development plan for Rushmoor 
compromises the Rushmoor Local Plan (February 2019), the Hampshire 
Minerals and Waste Plan (October 2013) and saved Policy NRM6 of the 
South East Plan. 

3.2 Although not necessarily specifically referred to in the Committee report, the 
relevant development plan will have been used as a background document 
and the relevant policies taken into account in the preparation of the report on 
each item.  Where a development does not accord with the development plan 
and it is proposed to recommend that planning permission be granted, the 
application will be advertised as a departure and this will be highlighted in the 
Committee report. 

4. Human Rights

4.1 The Human Rights Act 1998 (the Act) has incorporated part of the European 
Convention on Human Rights into English law.  All planning applications are 
assessed to make sure that the subsequent determination of the development 
proposal is compatible with the Act.  If there is a potential conflict, this will be 
highlighted in the report on the relevant item. 

5. Public Speaking

5.1 The Committee has agreed a scheme for the public to speak on cases due to 
be determined at the meeting (Planning Services report PLN0327 refers).  
Members of the public wishing to speak must have contacted the Meeting Co-
ordinator in Democratic Services by 5pm on the Tuesday immediately 
preceding the Committee meeting.  It is not possible to arrange to speak to 
the Committee at the Committee meeting itself. 

6. Late Representations

6.1 The Council has adopted the following procedures with respect to the receipt 
of late representations on planning applications (Planning report PLN 0113 
refers): 

a) All properly made representations received before the expiry of the final
closing date for comment will be summarised in the Committee report.  Where
such representations are received after the agenda has been published, the
receipt of such representations will be reported orally and the contents
summarised on the amendment sheet that is circulated at the Committee
meeting.  Where the final closing date for comment falls after the date of the
Committee meeting, this will be highlighted in the report and the
recommendation caveated accordingly.

Page 12



b) Representations from both applicants and others made after the expiry of the
final closing date for comment and received after the report has been
published will not be accepted unless they raise a new material consideration
which has not been taken into account in the preparation of the report or
draws attention to an error in the report.

c) Representations that are sent to Members should not accepted or allowed to
influence Members in the determination of any planning application unless
those representations have first been submitted to the Council in the proper
manner (but see (b) above).

d) Copies of individual representations will not be circulated to members but
where the requisite number of copies are provided, copies of individual
representation will be placed in Members’ pigeonholes.

e) All letters of representation will be made readily available in the Committee
room an hour before the Committee meeting.

7. Financial Implications

7.1 There are no direct financial implications arising from this report.  However, in 
the event of an appeal, further resources will be put towards defending the 
Council’s decision.  Rarely, and in certain circumstances, decisions on 
planning applications may result in the Council facing an application for costs 
arising from a planning appeal.  Officers will aim to alert Members where this 
may be likely and provide appropriate advice in such circumstances. 

Tim Mills 
Head of Economy, Planning and Strategic Housing 

Background Papers 

- The individual planning application file (reference no. quoted in each case) 
Rushmoor Local Plan (Adopted Feb 2019)  

- Current government advice and guidance contained in circulars, ministerial 
statements and the National Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG).  

- Any other document specifically referred to in the report.  
- Regional Spatial Strategy for the South East, policy NRM6: Thames Basin 

Heaths Special Protection Area.  
- The National Planning Policy Framework.   
- Hampshire Minerals and Waste Plan (2013). 

Page 13



This page is intentionally left blank



Section A

Future items for Committee 
Section A items are for INFORMATION purposes only.  It comprises applications that 
have either been submitted some time ago but are still not yet ready for consideration or 
are recently received applications that are not ready to be considered by the 
Committee.  The background papers for all the applications are the application details 
contained in the Part 1 Planning Register.

Item Reference Description and address

20/00400/FULPP Development of site to create a leisure facility 
comprising aquatic sports centre including cafe, gym, 
equestrian centre accommodation and ancillary 
facilities; equestrian centre and associated stabling; 
21 floating holiday lodges with associated car 
parking, landscaping and bund (revisded proposals 
submitted 2 February 2021)  

Land At Former Lafarge Site Hollybush Lane 
Aldershot Hampshire

Consideration of additional and revised submissions 
is in progress. 

21/00048/REVPP Variation of condition 15 attached to planning 
permission 17/00344/REVPP dated 22.06.2017 for 
the erection of restaurant with drive-thru and 
takeaway facility, to allow permitted hours of use 
from  06:00 to 00:00, 7 days a week  

1 North Close Aldershot Hampshire GU12 4HA

This application has only recently been received 
and consultation is in progress. 

21/00066/FULPP Erection of 10 X 3-bedroom 3-storey detached 
houses with vehicular access from Sorrell Close; 
together with associated parking, internal access 
driveway and landscaping  

Briarwood Sorrel Close Farnborough Hampshire

This application has only recently been received and 

Development Management Committee Report No. EPSH2108

1

2

3

Page 15



consultation is in progress. 

21/00108/REMPP Part Approval of Reserved Matters for the 
construction of 430 residential dwellings together 
with associated landscape, access and parking in 
Part of Development Zone K (Stanhope Lines East) 
and Part of Development Zone M (Buller) pursuant to 
Condition 4 (1 to 21), attached to Hybrid Outline 
Planning Permission 12/00958/OUT dated 10th 
March 2014  

Zone K - Stanhope Lines East And Zone M Buller 
Wellesley Aldershot Urban Extension Alisons 
Road

This application has only recently been received 
and consultation is in progress. 

Section B

Petitions

Item Reference Description and address

There are no petitions to report

4

Page 16



 

 
 

Development Management Committee 
17th March 2021 

Item  5  
Report No.PLN2108 

Section C 

The information, recommendations and advice contained in this report are correct as at the 
date of preparation, which is more than two weeks in advance of the Committee meeting.  
Because of these time constraints some reports may have been prepared in advance of the 
final date given for consultee responses or neighbour comment.  Any changes or necessary 
updates to the report will be made orally at the Committee meeting. 

Case Officer David Stevens 

Application No. 20/00856/FULPP 

Date Valid 8th December 2020 

Expiry date of 
consultations 

30th December 2020 

Proposal Retention and re-roofing of existing light industrial building (known 
as Unit 4 : Use Class B1(c)); demolition of all remaining existing 
light industrial buildings (Use Class B1(c)) and erection of new 
buildings for flexible light industrial employment use (within Use 
Class E1); with associated works, including replacement 
hardstanding areas 

Address Land to the rear of 26-40 Cove Road Farnborough 

Ward Cove and Southwood 

Applicant G Day 

Agent Mark Leedale Planning 

Recommendation Grant 

Description 
 
This application relates to an irregularly-shaped area of land measuring approximately 0.22 
hectares divided into two main areas east and west of Nos.42-44 Cove Road, a property in 
separate ownership and falling outside the application site. The site contains a collection of 
co-joined mainly single-storey commercial buildings with the collective postal addresses of 
Nos.36 and 40 Cove Road, which cover part of the land to the east side. There is no No.38 
Cove Road. The west side of the land is a gravel-surfaced car park formerly enclosed to the 
north, west and south by a conifer tree hedge that has recently been cut back to little more 
than fence height. The east and west portions of the land are linked to the rear of the 
curtilage of Nos.42 & 44 Cove Road. 
 
The land is to the rear of shops and a restaurant and takeaway premises with a variety of 
residential dwellings above fronting Cove Road and forming Nos.26 to 54. There is an 
existing narrow vehicular entrance to the east side between Nos.30 and 32/34 Cove Road 
leading into a parking area immediately adjoining the buildings at Nos.36 & 40 Cove Road. 
This area is located to the rear of both Nos.26-30 and 32/34 Cove Road. From here it is 
possible to drive around the end of the curtilage of Nos.42 & 44 Cove Road to reach the west 

Page 17



 

 
 

portion of the application land. There is an existing narrower vehicular entrance into the west 
portion of the application land between Nos.44 and 46/48 Cove Road that is in separate 
private ownership. Although the applicant is understood to have a legal right of way along 
this route, it also provides vehicular access to a parking area to the rear of Nos.46/48 Cove 
Road (a takeaway and chip-shop with a first-floor residential flat above) and is also used for 
deliveries to this commercial property. There is a metal five-bar gate that can be closed 
across the entrance on the boundary between Nos.46/48 Cove Road and the west portion of 
the application land. 
 
To the west, the application land abuts the side of a large garden area to the rear of mixed 
commercial and residential property at 56-68 even Cove Road. The north and east 
boundaries of the application land abut residential properties: Nos.1 Elmsleigh Road and 14 
Gables Close directly adjoin to the north; and Nos.9 Gables Close and 24 Cove Road to the 
east. 
 
The proposal is for the demolition of the majority of the existing light industrial commercial 
building(s) that occupy much of the east portion of the application land sited adjoining the 
side boundaries of Nos.9 Gables Close and 24 Cove Road. This is with the exception of ‘Unit 
4’ which is the existing taller unit nearest the rear of the site adjoining No.14 Gables Close, 
which is proposed to be retained minus the existing pitched roof. This is to be replaced with a 
new roof of similar shape and form, but 5 metres high at the ridge (the existing building is 
approximately 4.5 metres high), with the footprint of the building also extended a little to the 
rear/side. It is then proposed to erect a further five new light industrial units (Units 5 – 9 
inclusive) in a staggered terrace attached to the retained Unit 4 and sited in a similar location 
adjacent to the boundary of the application land shared with Nos.9 Gables Close and 24 
Cove Road. Each of the proposed Units 5-9 are shown to have individual pitched roofs (with 
front and rear gable ends and a longitudinal ridge) measuring 5 metres high at the ridge. A 
smaller terrace of three light industrial units (Units 1-3 inclusive) are proposed to occupy part 
of the west portion of the application land to the rear of 50-54 Cove Road. Proposed terraced 
Units 1-3 are shown to have a shallow curved roof reaching a maximum height of 6 metres 
above ground level at the front and 4 metres at the eaves to the rear. 
 
The following table is a summary of the light industrial floorspace of the application land as  
existing and now proposed:- 

EXISTING PROPOSED 

Existing co-joined buildings currently divided 
into 4-5 separate units, including one two-
storey unit. 

Unit 1 : 56 sqm 
Unit 2 : 56 sqm 
Unit 3 : 56 sqm 
Unit 4 : 149 sqm 
Unit 5 : 73 sqm 
Unit 6 : 77 sqm 
Unit 7 : 84 sqm 
Unit 8 : 85 sqm 
Unit 9 : 86 sqm 

TOTAL FLOORSPACE : 737 sqm (Gross 
External Measurements) 

TOTAL FLOORSPACE : 722 sqm (Gross 
External Measurements) 

 
The proposed new buildings are indicated to be finished with profiled metal wall and roof 
cladding panels. Each of the units would have roller-shutter and pedestrian access doors in 
the front elevation. Fire escape doors, together with some small windows are shown to be 
provided in the rear elevation of Units 5-9. 
 

Page 18



 

 
 

The existing vehicular entrances would be retained with the layout of the application land 
arranged to provide one-way vehicular circulation. Vehicles would enter the development 
between Nos.30 and 32 Cove Road; and  leave via the narrower driveway to the west side 
between Nos.44 and 46-48 Cove Road. A revised Site Layout Plan received on 1st February 
2021 shows a total of 31 on-site standard car parking arranged around the margins of the 
one-way vehicular circulation route. These include 5 unallocated visitor spaces, plus a further 
8 spaces allocated to serve adjacent properties at Nos.30, 30A, 30B, 30C, 32A, 32B and 34 
(x2 spaces) Cove Road. The remaining 18 spaces are shown to be allocated equally for 
each of the proposed 9 Units; i.e. 2 spaces each. Locations for the storage of commercial 
waste bins and cycle parking are also shown within the proposed site layout.   
 
The application is accompanied by a Planning, Design & Access Statement; a Transport 
Statement; a preliminary Ecological Appraisal and Bat Building Assessment Report; a Tree 
Report; and a Groundsure preliminary desktop assessment in terms of contaminated land 
and flood risk. The Applicant’s agent has submitted two supplemental supporting statements 
to the Council on 18th January and 1st February 2021. 
 
Relevant Planning History 
 
The application land has a long history of commercial use. From 1980 this involved the 
occupation of the land by Cove Industrial Enterprises and other firms undertaking general 
industrial (Use Class B2) activities. These gave rise to significant and sustained complaints 
from adjoining and nearby residents relating primarily to noise and smell. This was 
associated with complaints about the erection of buildings without planning permission and 
the breach of planning conditions imposed by earlier permissions. In January 1993 planning 
permission was refused for the erection of an extension and the continued use of premises at 
the application land (then including land to the rear of Nos.42-44 Cove Road) for both light 
industrial (Use Class B1) and general industrial use (Use Class B2), 92/00411/COU refers. In 
February 1993 the Council resolved to take enforcement action primarily in the form of 
Breach of Condition Notices. Prosecutions were subsequently commenced by the Council for 
failure to comply with these Notices after they were served. However these proceedings 
were later withdrawn because the firms occupying the land re-located elsewhere. 
 
The preceding history forms the planning context for the existing commercial buildings, 
associated parking areas and layout as they currently exist. Planning permission was sought 
in 1994 with planning application 94/00003/COU for retention of the buildings currently on the 
application land (Nos.36 and 40 Cove Road) to be used for light industrial purposes (Use 
Class B1). The 1994 application site comprised the current application site but also included 
the land to the rear of 42-44 Cove Road. The proposals were eventually granted permission 
in February 1997 subject to conditions. Some existing buildings were demolished; various 
open storage, metal containers and equipment removed from the land; the retained buildings 
refurbished and sound insulation installed; a parking area was formed principally in the west 
portion of the land; screen landscape planting was undertaken around the parking area; and 
improvements made to the existing vehicular entrance between Nos.26 and 32/34 Cove 
Road.  
 
A number of restrictive planning conditions were imposed by the 1997 planning permission, 
including:- 

• Condition No.2: Hours of use of the retained premises restricted to 0730-1800 hours 
Mondays to Fridays, 0730 to 1300 hours Saturdays; and no use at all on Sundays and 
Bank Holidays; 

• Condition No.3: The premises to be used only for the purpose of clutch & brake 

Page 19



 

 
 

distribution and/or light industrial purposes within Use Class B1(c) and for no other 
purpose, including any other purpose within Use Class B1 or B8. Furthermore, the 
premises were not to be used for the manufacture of plastic mouldings or precision 
engineering involving the heavy duty cutting, bending, punching and welding of sheet 
metal or machine parts; 

• Condition No.4: No external storage of raw materials, finished or unfinished products, 
parts, crates, packing materials or waste was to take place unless within the specified 
storage areas identified on the approved plans; 

• Condition No.5: All plant and machinery was to be enclosed with soundproofing 
materials and not used unless it was; 

• Condition No.6: The retention of the approved landscape planting at all times; 

• Condition No.7: No sound reproduction equipment that would be audible outside the 
premises was to be installed and/or used at the land; 

• Condition No.8: The parking and manoeuvring areas shown on the approved plans 
were to be retained at all times. In addition, 8 parking spaces were to be retained and 
kept available for the occupiers and visitors to 30A Cove Road; and one space each 
retained for the sole use of the occupiers of 42 and 44 Cove Road [a total of 10 
parking spaces to be provided on the current application land]; 

• Condition No.9: The sole vehicular access to the land was to be from between 30 and 
32/34 Cove Road and be improved as approved within 3 months. Additionally, the 
access driveway between 44 and 46/48 Cove Road was to be kept gated to all 
vehicular traffic at all times except in an emergency; 

• Condition No.10: The sound insulation measures that were installed in the buildings to 
remain was to be retained at all times. 

 
In February 2000 planning permission was granted for the variation of Condition No.8 of the 
1997 planning permission to re-allocate parking spaces to different properties, 00/00031/FUL 
refers. It is evident from an informative attached to this permission that the purpose of this 
application was solely to re-allocate the two spaces for the sole use of the occupiers of 
Nos.42 and 44 Cove Road with the 1997 planning permission to other users. Condition No.2 
of the 2000 permission specifies that the two parking spaces concerned be allocated one 
each to Nos.30 and 34 Cove Road instead. It seems likely that this permission was prompted 
by Nos.42-44 Cove Road ceasing to be in the same ownership as the remainder of the 
application land. 
 
Condition No.5 of planning permission 13/00482/COUPP dated October 2013 relating to the 
change of use of first-floor offices and erection of a roof extension and loft conversion to 
create a pair of 2-bedroom flats at 32 Cove Road requires provision and retention of a pair of 
parking spaces in the adjoining parking area that is part of the current application land. 
 
Planning permission 08/00210/COU was granted in June 2008 for the change of use of first-
floor offices to 3 X one-bedroom flats at 30A Cove Road. This planning permission identified 
the current application land as providing 3 parking spaces to be used by residents, although 
no condition was imposed to require these parking spaces be made available and retained 
thereafter.  
 
In October 2018 planning permission was refused (18/00580/FULPP) for the re-development 
of the current application land with 7 houses (comprising 1 x 2 bed and 6 x 3 bed dwellings) 
divided between two terraced blocks and associated works following demolition of existing 
buildings for the following ten reasons:- 
 
 

Page 20



 

 
 

“1. The proposed development, by reason of the ad hoc, piecemeal and constrained 
nature of the application land and the poorly-contrived design of the proposed 
development would be an incongruous form of development which would relate poorly 
and unsympathetically to its surroundings. Furthermore, the proposed development 
would be likely to prejudice the possible future development of adjoining land together 
with the application land in a more satisfactory and comprehensive manner. As such, 
allowing the current proposals to proceed would not be in the interests of the proper 
planning of the vicinity nor make the most efficient use of land. The proposed 
development is thereby contrary to adopted Rushmoor Core Strategy Policies CP1 and 
CP2, and emerging New Rushmoor Local Plan (2014-2032) Policies DE1 and SS1. 
 
2. It has not been demonstrated that the application land is suitable for residential re-
development having regard to potential ground contamination. The proposals are thereby 
contrary to saved Local Plan Policy ENV49 and emerging New Rushmoor Local Plan 
(2014-2032) Policy DE10. 
 
3. The proposals would result in the loss of a tree worthy of retention. The proposals also 
fail to provide adequate justification for the removal of a substantial boundary screen 
hedge and has failed to consider the impact of the proposed development on a tree in 
the rear garden of No.24 Cove Road near the proposed Plot 7 house. The proposals are 
contrary to saved Local Plan Policies ENV13 and ENV20, and emerging New Rushmoor 
Local Plan (2014-2032) Policy NE3. 
 
4. Inadequate consideration has been given to the relationships of the proposed 
development with existing immediately adjoining and nearby residential properties, the 
occupiers of which would suffer a material loss of privacy due to undue direct overlooking 
and/or loss of amenity due to noise, disturbance and activity arising from the use of the 
parking courtyards. The proposals are thereby unacceptable and contrary to adopted 
Rushmoor Core Strategy Policy CP2, saved Local Plan Policy ENV17 and emerging 
New Rushmoor Local Plan (2014-2032) Policy DE1. 
 
5. The proposed development would provide a poorly contrived and inadequate living 
environment for potential future occupiers by reason of the potential for undue 
overlooking of proposed dwelling units from existing neighbouring properties and/or the 
likely noise, disturbance and cooking odours arising from the operation of nearby 
commercial uses. The proposals are thereby contrary to Rushmoor Core Strategy 
Policies CP1 and CP2, saved Local Plan Policy ENV17, and emerging New Rushmoor 
Local Plan (2014-2032) Policy DE1. 
 
6. The proposed development makes no provision to address the likely significant impact 
of additional residential units on the objectives and nature conservation interests of the 
Thames Basin Heaths Special Protection Area. The proposals are thereby contrary to 
the requirements of retained South East Plan Policy NRM6, Rushmoor Core Strategy 
Policies CP13 and CP15, and emerging New Rushmoor Local Plan (2014-2032) Policies 
NE1 and NE4. 
 
7. The proposal has failed to demonstrate, through adequate ecological surveys of the 
application land, that there would be no adverse impact on protected wildlife species 
having regard to the requirements of adopted Rushmoor Core Strategy Policy CP15 and 
emerging New Rushmoor Local Plan (2014-2032) NE4. 
 
 

Page 21



 

 
 

8. The proposals, would be likely to have a severe impact on the safety and convenience 
of highway users, including users of the adjoining pedestrian pavement due to:- 
 
(a)the failure to propose improvements to the means of vehicular access to and from the 
site and the proposed intensification in the use of existing sub-standard and 
unsatisfactory driveways with poor pedestrian and vehicular sight-lines; 
 
(b)the failure to provide adequate on-site parking to meet the functional parking needs of 
the proposed development and the existing continuing requirements to provide parking 
for occupiers of adjoining properties outside the application land in an area with 
significant demand for very limited on-street parking; with the consequent likelihood of 
significant indiscriminate overspill parking and additional demand on already limited on-
street parking in the vicinity; 
 
(c) inadequate on-site vehicle manoeuvring space; and 
 
(d)the failure to consider the impact of the proposed development upon refuse collection 
arrangements; 
 
the proposal would therefore be contrary to adopted Rushmoor Core Strategy Policies 
CP2 and CP16, saved Local Plan Policy TR10, emerging New Rushmoor Local Plan 
Policy IN2, and the Council's adopted Parking Standards SPD (November 2017). 
 
9. The proposals fail to provide details of appropriate surface water drainage for the 
development as required by adopted Rushmoor Core Strategy Policy CP4 and emerging 
New Rushmoor Local Plan Policy NE8. 
 
10.The proposals fail to provide details of sustainable energy performance measures as 
required by adopted Rushmoor Core Strategy Policy CP3 and emerging New Rushmoor 
Local Plan Policy DE1.” 

 
A subsequent appeal against this refusal was dismissed in May 2019. Aside from the 
protected species and drainage issues identified by reason Nos.7 and 9, which were subject 
to further information submitted with the appeal, the Inspector supported all of the other 
reasons for refusal. 
 
In May 2019 the Council issued a Certificate of Existing Lawful Use (19/00181/EDC) 
confirming lawfulness of unrestricted general use of the vehicular entrance from to Cove 
Road between Nos.44 and 46-48.     
 
Consultee Responses  
 
HCC Highways Development 
Planning 

No highway objections subject to conditions in respect of the 
signing of the proposed 1-way vehicle circulation and a 
construction management plan. It is confirmed that no 
Transport Contribution is required since the proposals do not 
increase the commercial floorspace already present. 

 
Environmental Health No objections subject to conditions and informatives. 

 
 
 

Page 22



 

 
 

Hampshire Fire & Rescue 
Service 

No objections and provides generic fire safety precautions 
advice. 

 
Hampshire Constabulary No comments received during the consultation period, 

thereby presumed to have no objections. 
 
Aboricultural Officer No objection subject to standard tree protection measure 

conditions 
 

 
Thames Water 

No comments received during the consultation period, 
thereby presumed to have no objections. [Officer Note: 
Thames Water similarly did not comment in respect of the 
2018 planning application. Whilst the Council raised 
concerns about the failure to submit details for surface water 
drainage of the site with Reason for Refusal No.9, a 
Drainage Report was submitted with the subsequent appeal 
such that the Inspector did not dismiss the appeal on this 
ground.] 

 
Neighbours notified 
 
In addition to posting a site notice and press advertisement, 73 individual letters of 
notification were sent to properties in Cove Road, Elmsleigh Road, Prospect Road and 
Gables Close, including all properties adjoining the application site. 
 
Neighbour comments 
 
A total of 5 representations have been received raising Objections to the proposals from the 
occupiers of Nos.9, 10 & 12 Gables Close; and 42A & 44B Cove Road. Objection is raised 
on the following summary grounds:- 
 

(a) The submitted application does not give adequate information concerning heights, 
noise and disturbance for close neighbours [Officer Note: the correspondents making 
these comments were contacted to provide assistance as necessary]. 

(b) The applicant still does not have the use of the land at Nos.42-44 Cove Road that 
practically divides the application land in two. This results in another poorly-contrived 
and cramped site layout design. The overall layout of the proposed development could 
be better designed. 

(c) Dangerous narrow access for vehicles leaving the site as there are always cars 
parked on Cove Road which severely impede vision, thereby creating a dangerous 
situation for vehicles leaving the site and joining the busy Cove Road. There is a bus 
stop which blocks the view of/for any vehicles leaving the site via the OUT access; 
and both IN and OUT have poor visibility of pedestrians. It is only a matter of time 
before a pedestrian gets seriously hurt – there have been too many near-misses 
already. 

(d) Inadequate parking would be provided; i.e. for deliveries, customers and staff. The site 
will be packed with parked cars, cars on the go and vehicles entering and leaving. 

(e) An excessive number of industrial units would be provided, thereby intensifying traffic 
to and from the site. 

(f) The proposed Units are far too small and poorly designed. They would have extremely 
limited provision of facilities within, including no allowance for separate WCs for 
different genders within the units [Officer Note: it is a matter for the marketing 

Page 23



 

 
 

judgement of the developer and the judgement of potential tenants whether or not the 
proposed units are big enough. The internal layout of the proposed Units, including 
WC provision is a matter for the Building Regulations. Neither of these matters are 
relevant to the consideration of the planning application].  

(g) No space is provided for turning/manoeuvring/Unit servicing and bin collection within 
the site.  

(h) Also no space provided for a pedestrian walkway within the site. 
(i) High vehicles will not be able to use the “Out” access to leave the site because the 

extractor fan of the adjoining Chinese Takeaway protrudes into the accessway, 
limiting the height and width of vehicle that can pass. The alternative for these 
vehicles is to try to turn around within the site area to leave via the “IN” access. 

(j) There will be accidents/damage to parked cars and to the fencing round 44-44B Cove 
Road. Over the years the fence adjoining the access have been replaced endless 
times due to vehicles trying to park and reversing into them or damaging them while 
doing a delivery due to the access not having wide enough space to pass through. 

(k) The submitted plans do not show any sort of provision of protection to neighbouring 
properties, i.e. Concrete bollards or raised pavement to prevent vehicles causing 
damage to neighbouring fences etc. 

(l) The height of the proposed buildings will affect neighbouring properties. 
(m)Noise levels associated with the proposed industrial units will be high – and the site 

adjoins residential properties. 
(n) Disagreements with the information and comments provided in the supporting 

documents (Design & Access and Transport Statements) submitted with the 
application. 

(o) Increased pollution (smoke and fumes), noise and security light nuisance, and general 
disturbance : previous planning applications, such as 92/00411/COU, have been 
refused on this basis. Impacts on neighbours were also taken into account in the 
Council’s refusal of planning application 18/00580/FULPP, which was subsequently 
upheld at appeal. 

(p) There is insufficient space provided for the storage refuse/recycling bins for all 9 
proposed units : each unit will require 2 bins. Some of the proposed units would not 
have any space for the provision of bins. The application is silent about how bins 
would be emptied/collected. A refuse lorry would have difficulty gaining access to the 
site. 

(q) Concerns that the proposals are the ‘thin end of the wedge’ and further development 
proposals are likely to follow [Officer Note: this matter cannot be taken into account in 
the consideration of the application : the current proposals alone must be considered 
objectively on their own planning merits]. 

(r) There will be an over-supply of small industrial units, so this proposed development is 
not necessary [Officer Note: this is a matter for the marketing judgement of the 
developer and is not a matter that can be taken into account in considering the 
application] 

(s) The proposed Units 4-9 will be taller than the building(s) that they would replace and 
would overlook No.9 Gables Close if windows are put into the elevations. 

(t) Existing amenity problems arising from the existing buildings, use of the site and its 
management [Officer Note: these matters are not material to the consideration of the 
current application and are subject to controls under other legislation]. 

(u) Concerns that the existing building(s) contain asbestos materials that need to be 
removed. More specifically, it is alleged that the existing roofs of the building(s) to be 
demolished are covered with asbestos materials [Officer Note: This is not a matter 
that can be taken into account in the consideration of this planning application. This is 
because this issue is subject to other legislation and is a separate matter in which 

Page 24



 

 
 

Rushmoor Council has no jurisdiction to be involved].  
(v) The existing buildings should be demolished and the land left to provide more parking 

for the nearby shops [Officer Note: the Council consider the proposals the subject of 
the planning application as submitted  

(w) Concerns that the proposed light industrial units would be a fire hazard [Officer Note: 
Officer Note: the light industrial use of the application land is lawful in planning terms 
and is not under consideration as part of the current application. The fire safety issue 
raised is not a matter for the Council in the consideration of the current application 
since they fall within the jurisdiction of external agencies : primarily the Fire Service 
and the Health & Safety Executive. The fire safety of the proposed external building 
cladding materials is a matter for the Building Regulations. It is clear Government 
guidance to Local Planning Authorities that matters dealt with by other authorities 
under other legislative powers should be left to the relevant  authorities concerned]. 

(x) Serious ground contamination renders the site unsuitable for development and 
undertaking the proposed building work on the land would be likely to release 
contaminants into the environment. No testing of the site for contaminants has been 
undertaken to date (or if it has, has not been made public) and some correspondents 
believe that previous buildings on the land demolished historically have resulted in 
asbestos contamination of the ground; and, furthermore, historical industrial activities 
on the application land may have involved use of highly dangerous and noxious 
chemicals; and generally involved the release of pollutants into the environment. In 
this respect, it is alleged that the application fails to address or even acknowledge the 
historical uses of the application land; and that the applicant has to date failed to deal 
with the resultant ground contamination adequately or at all. The objectors believe that 
the submitted Site Investigation Report does not acknowledge the extent (or even the 
existence) of historical ground contamination and is indecisively vague. 

(y) The previous refused application (18/00580/FULPP) was refused, in part, on account 
of ground contamination issues and the appeal Inspector subsequently agreed with 
this. 

(z) It is considered that Rushmoor BC has a duty of care to the community with respect to 
historical ground contamination.  

  
Eight representations in Support of the proposals have been received from the occupiers of 
40B and 47 Cove Road, 1 Elmsleigh Road; 59 Oaken Copse Crescent, Farnborough; 
Travers Barn, Crondall, Farnham; 8 Hook Hill, Sanderstead, South Croydon; Moir House St. 
Georges Road, Bromley, Kent; and ‘Nepcroft’, Steep Lane, Findon, Worthing. The following 
comments are made:- 
 

(1) The site has been used for commercial activities since the 1950s; 
(2) The proposals would be an excellent opportunity to develop and clean/tidy-up the site 

into something beneficial for local businesses and residents alike; 
(3) There is a shortage of good quality small industrial units in the area and it will be good 

for employment and for local shops; 
(4) Too many industrial sites have been re-developed with residential development; 
(5) The existing buildings are in need of refreshment and/or replacement with new 

buildings constructed to modern standards; 
(6) The proposals are well thought-out, would make good use of the site, and there is no 

reason in principle to refuse permission; and 
(7) Many of the objections that have been raised are considered to be incorrect and 

unfounded. In this respect some of the correspondents in support state that they 
have/had first-hand knowledge of the site and what activities were undertaken there, 
how the buildings were constructed and subsequently altered and improved. 

Page 25



 

 
 

 
The applicant has also made representations in response to the objections raised 
concerning the history of the application land, his knowledge and ownership of it; and of the 
proposals generally. The allegations made by some of the objectors concerning polluting 
activities being undertaken at the application land, the existence of asbestos materials, and 
the failure to deal adequately with contamination issues are all strongly refuted. 
  
Policy and determining issues 
 
The site is within the built-up area of Farnborough. The site is not located within or 
immediately adjoining a Conservation Area, a Listed Building or a non-Statutory heritage 
asset such as a designated Building of Local Importance. 
 
Adopted Rushmoor Local Plan (2014-2032) Policies SS2 (Spatial Strategy), IN2 (Transport), 
DE1 (Design in the Built Environment), DE10 (Pollution) NE3 (Trees & Landscaping), NE4 
(Biodiversity), NE6 (Fluvial Flood Risk), NE7 (Surface Water Flooding) and NE8 (Sustainable 
Drainage Systems) are relevant to the assessment of this application. The adopted 
Rushmoor Car and Cycle Parking Standards Supplementary Planning Document (2017) and 
relevant guidance from the National Planning Policy Framework and National Planning 
Guidance are also relevant. 
 
The main issues in the determination of this application are considered to be the principle of 
the proposals, the visual impact on the character and appearance of the site and surrounding 
area, impact on trees, the impact upon the amenities of neighbours, highways 
considerations, impact on wildlife, drainage issues, and access for people with disabilities. 
 
Commentary 
 
1. Principle – 
 
The current proposals are largely for the replacement of existing commercial buildings on a 
site with a lawful and extant planning use for light industrial purposes (formerly Use Class 
B1). Indeed, the 1997 planning permission (94/00003/COU) granted retrospective planning 
permission for the buildings that currently exist on the application land and sought to draw a 
line under previous unauthorised industrial development and activity at the application land. 
A Use Class B1 use is defined as an industrial use that is compatible with adjoining and 
nearby residential properties and, as such, is in principle acceptable in this location in any 
event. 
 
The Town & Country Planning (Use Classes) (Amendment) (England) Regulations 2020 
came into force on 1st September 2020 and, inter alia, have introduced a new Use Class E 
(Commercial, Business & Service). The new Use Class E has replaced various existing Use 
Classes and grouped various commercial uses together so that commercial premises can, 
generally, be used more flexibly and for a combination of different commercial activities, 
without the need for planning permission. The New Class E encompasses use, or part use, 
of premises for all forms of the display or retail sale of goods…principally to visiting members 
of the public (previously Use Class A1); together with financial and professional services 
uses (previously Use Class A2); café and restaurant uses (previously Use Class A3); any 
other services which it is appropriate to provide in a commercial, business or service locality; 
uses for indoor sport, recreation and fitness; provision of medical health services; and use for 
purposes that previously fell within Use Class B1 (office, research and development and light 
industry). Although the introduction of the new Use Class E aims to provide new flexible 

Page 26



 

 
 

opportunities for business to use commercial floorspace, including retail floorspace, it is open 
to the Council to restrict the nature of the use(s) for which the proposed commercial units can 
be used within Use Class E if it is considered appropriate to do so.  
 
The proposed development is clearly seeking to make better use of existing currently 
developed land within the defined urban area of Farnborough, which is a clear objective of 
national planning policy and guidance and the Council’s adopted planning policies. 
 
Unlike the previous refused proposals for residential re-development, the current proposals 
are for the replacement of existing commercial buildings with new buildings on a site to be 
retained in its existing light industrial commercial use. Unlike a residential use, the proposed 
development is not a ‘vulnerable’ end use and it is considered most unlikely that occupiers of 
the proposed new light industrial units would have contact with soil or sub-soil at the 
application land, such as through undertaking gardening. Nevertheless, the submitted Phase 
1 Desk Study Report has rightly identified the need for an intrusive site investigation, to 
include analysis of soils, groundwater and ground gases. This would identify any ground 
contamination present. Subject to the imposition of the usual conditions, the developer would 
be required to undertake appropriate remediation commensurate with the level of risk to the 
environment having regard to the proposed demolition and construction activities to be 
involved and to future occupiers/visitors to the development should any contamination be 
found.  
 
The proposals the subject of the application are therefore considered to be acceptable in 
principle. 
 
2. Visual Impact - 
 
The vicinity of the application site is mainly residential in character, although there are also 
significant commercial uses, mainly at this point fronting Cove Road. Many of which, like the 
application property, have operated for many years. The application land is located in a 
backland position and has narrow vehicular accesses from Cove Road such that the 
application land itself is not readily visible from public vantage points. Indeed, the application 
land is not considered to materially define or influence the visual character and appearance 
of the areas as a whole. 
 
The 2018 appeal Inspector described the section of Cove Road closest to the appeal site as 
being a busy road lined with mixed use properties providing a vibrant frontage; but, by 
contrast, the nearby roads at Elmsleigh Road and Gables Close are predominantly in 
residential use and have a quieter pleasant suburban character. In this context the Inspector 
considered that the previous proposals for the insertion of a residential development with a 
fragmented layout of development with an awkward shape and disjointed appearance onto 
the application land would harm the visual character and appearance of the area. 
 
However it is not considered that the visual impact of the current proposed development is 
comparable to that of the 2018 residential re-development proposals. The application land 
would remain in the same commercial use as existing. The proposed new terrace of 
commercial Units 5-9 would replace existing commercial building(s) of ad hoc and utilitarian 
appearance that are partially visible at the end of Gables Close, however this is also a 
restricted public view. The proposed Units 5-9 would be positioned alongside the retained 
existing building in the north-east corner of the site to form Unit 4, which would be re-roofed. 
Collectively, the proposed new and refurbished buildings would be approximately 1 metre 
higher (at the ridge only) than the flatter-roofed existing buildings to be replaced. In this 

Page 27



 

 
 

respect, it is considered that the proposals would be a significant visual improvement over 
the appearance of the existing buildings and not appear materially larger than the building(s) 
that currently exist.  
 
Proposed new commercial Units 1-3 would be located adjoining the west boundary of the 
application land and be of a different modern design incorporating a low rear roof eaves 
height and shallow-pitched curved roof. It is not considered that this terrace of small 
commercial units would be readily, or at all, visible from any public vantage points. 
 
In all cases, the proposed new commercial buildings would have a lower overall height than 
the terraced houses and their associated domestic paraphernalia proposed with the 2018 
scheme.  
 
Accordingly, the current proposed development is not considered likely to impact materially 
and harmfully upon the visual character of the site and surrounding area and would thereby 
comply with Policy DE1 of the adopted Rushmoor Local Plan.   
 
3. Impact on Trees - 
 
There are a number of trees within or directly adjoining the application land and, accordingly, 
the application is accompanied by an Arboricultural Impact Assessment and Tree Survey.  
 
This describes the presence of a mainly cypress conifer hedge visually isolating the 
application land from adjacent residential neighbours to the west and north.  This hedge was 
noted by the 2018 appeal Inspector to perform an important amenity and screening function 
for residential properties beyond the boundaries of the application land; whom also 
considered that the likely entire loss of this screen to accommodate the proposed 
development would exacerbate the harm to the visual character and appearance of the area 
arising from the proposed residential re-development. This view was taken even though most 
of the trees forming this hedge screen were accepted to be of poor individual value. The 
2018 application submissions did, however, note the existence of a B-grade Sycamore tree 
(identified in the 2018 Tree Report as Tree T4B) that was considered to be an individual 
specimen worthy of retention located in the north-west corner of the application land. 
However, evidently since the current submitted Tree Report was written, the majority of the 
conifer boundary hedge has been topped and subject to basal pruning to reduce its bulk, 
height and lateral spread within the site, presumably to enable the proposed amended on-
site parking layout to fit and to make way for the construction of proposed Units 1-3. 
Furthermore, tree T4B has been removed entirely. These works were undertaken lawfully 
and did not require the Council’s consent since none of the trees were protected by a Tree 
Preservation Order. 
 
The submitted Arboricultural Report puts forward protection measures in respect of the 
conifer hedge and, since this is still considered to provide some useful screening of the 
application land for neighbouring properties even in its current denuded form, and that it 
would appear that what remains is intended to be retained by the applicant, it is considered 
that imposition of a condition to require protection measures to be implemented and 
maintained for the duration of the construction period of the proposed development would be 
appropriate.    
 
The submitted Arboricultural Report also correctly identifies a mature tree in the rear garden 
of No.24 Cove Road to the east of the application site (and proposed replacement Units 5-9) 
and puts forward appropriate tree protection measures in this respect. Whilst the Report fails 

Page 28



 

 
 

to identify a further smaller tree in the rear garden of No.24 Cove Road also adjoining the 
application land, it is considered that adoption of the same protection measures in respect of 
this further tree would also be appropriate. 
 
The Council’s Arboricultural Officer has considered the circumstances arising in this case 
and accepts that the only reasonable approach that can be taken now in the light of the 
recent tree works is to ensure that no harm arises in respect of the trees in the rear garden of 
No.24 Cove Road; and that the remaining hedge screen is retained to continue to perform 
this function. 
 
On this basis it is considered that the proposals are acceptable having regard to Local Plan 
Policy NE3.   
 
4. Impact on Neighbours – 
 
Although currently under-used, the site has a light-industrial commercial use as a result of 
the 1997 permission subject to a number of restrictions designed to ensure that impact upon 
neighbours is minimised. Indeed, by definition, a B1 use is capable of operating adjoining 
residential property without giving rise to any material adverse environmental effects. This is 
borne out by the lack of any significant complaints to the Council relating to activities 
undertaken at the application land since 1997, including by an unauthorised martial arts 
school use prior to the 2018 application.  
 
The proposed development would be located in proximity to a number of existing 
surrounding residential properties. The rear garden at No.24 Cove Road with No.4 Prospect 
Road beyond and No.9 Gables Close to the east; No.14 Gables Close and Nos.1 & 3 
Elmsleigh Road to the north; the garden area to Nos.56-68 Cove Road and 1a Elmsleigh 
Road beyond to the west. To the south the proposed development abuts the rear of 
properties fronting Cove Road, which contain a mixture of commercial uses and residential 
flats. This includes Nos.44A and 44B Cove Road, which have garden areas that occupy the 
land located between the east and west portions of the application land and, indeed, is land 
partially located between proposed terraces of Units 1-3 and 5-9. 
. 
The 2018 appeal Inspector identified a number of unacceptable adverse impacts of the 
proposed residential re-development on adjoining neighbours from a proposed parking court 
which would directly abut the boundary with the rear garden of 24 Cove Road, and from the 
orientation and proximity of upper floor windows to the proposed houses which would allow 
for intrusive views, reducing the privacy of garden areas to neighbouring residential 
properties to an unacceptable degree. The increased use of the western access point with 
the 2018 scheme would result in noise from an increase in vehicle movements in the 
confined space to be created there. However, it is considered that the circumstances of the 
current proposals are materially different from those considered and determined in 2018 and, 
indeed, this may be why some neighbours have indicated support for, or not responded to 
the Council’s notification in respect of, the current proposals where they did object to the 
2018 residential re-development scheme.  
 
The proposals the subject of the current planning application do not seek to change the use 
of the application land – the proposal is to enable the replacement of the existing building(s) 
and the refurbishment and re-roofing of an existing building. Although objection is raised on 
grounds of noise and other disturbance, the proposed new and re-roofed buildings would be 
clad with insulated metal panels that would, in addition to being more efficient thermally, also 
provide more effective noise attenuation. The existing means of access to and from the 

Page 29



 

 
 

application land, and a connection between the east and west portions of the application land 
with a one-way vehicular circulation, would be retained. Proposed Units 5-9 are considered 
to result in a very similar relationship with the immediately adjoining residential properties at 
Nos.24 Cove Road and 9 Gables Close as already exists. Although proposed Units 1-3 are a 
new building located in a part of the application land where no building currently exists, the 
overall quantum of floorspace provided on the application land would be slightly reduced 
from the existing overall amount of floorspace present on the land. Unlike the 2018 
residential scheme, the on-site parking is not concentrated close to the boundaries shared 
with residential neighbours any more than it is already. Indeed, the siting of proposed Units 
5-9 ensures that on-site parking does not adjoin the rear garden boundary with No.24 Cove 
Road. Further, it is considered that the siting of Units 1-3 to the side of the amenity area of 
No.44 Cove Road has the effect of reducing the existing extent of open vehicle parking that 
could, otherwise take pace in this area.  
 
Although objection is also raised on the basis of the possibility that undue overlooking of 
adjoining and nearby residential properties may occur, the proposed new buildings are of 
single-storey height. Whilst there are small windows shown to be provided in the rear 
elevations of Units 5-9, these would be screened by standard garden fencing and, in any 
event, would be high-level. As such it is considered that no material loss of privacy due to 
overlooking could arise. In the case of proposed Units 1-3, no windows are proposed for the 
rear elevation; side elevation facing the rear of the Cove Road properties to the south; and 
Unit No.3 is shown to have a small side window facing into the on-site parking area. It is 
considered that a standard condition can be used to remove any permitted development 
rights for the installation of any other windows in the elevations of the buildings in the 
proposed development.       
 
The Council’s Environmental Health Team have responded to consultation in respect of the 
current application to raise no objections subject to imposition of a number of conditions to 
replicate and/or update those imposed with the 1997 planning permission. In this respect it is 
considered that conditions be imposed to restrict the hours of use of the premises; although 
also covered by Class E of the Building Regulations, require the submission of details of the 
proposed acoustic insulation of the buildings to prevent noise breakout, in combination with a 
condition to require the roller-shutter doors of the units are kept closed except for the explicit 
purpose of equipment/personnel going in and out; require that any external plant is 
appropriately controlled/insulated to ensure no undue noise emissions at all times when in 
use; and prohibit the use of any externally audible tannoy and/or other sound reproduction 
equipment.  
 
The Council’s Environmental Health Team further recommend that conditions be imposed to 
restrict site construction hours and to require submission of a Construction Method 
Statement to set out the measures to be employed during the construction phase to minimise 
noise, vibration, dust and other emissions as far as practicable to protect neighbouring 
amenity. Although planning applications cannot be refused on account of the likely 
construction phase impacts, it is considered reasonable to require the submission of details 
of construction management measures given the scale of the development and the clear 
potential for this to give rise to nuisance and inconvenience to immediately adjoining and 
nearby residential neighbours. 
 
Because a light industrial use previously falling within Use Class B1(c) is now contained in 
the new Use Class E, it is considered necessary to consider whether there are any uses 
falling within Use Class E that should be excluded by condition, notwithstanding the intention 
of this change to enable commercial premises to be used more flexibly. In this respect, it is 

Page 30



 

 
 

understood that the proposals were formulated some time before Use Class E was 
introduced from 1 September 2020 and, as such, the applicant is not specifically seeking a 
flexible use and, indeed, Condition No.3 of planning permission 94/00003/COU specifically 
restricts the use of the application land to being for light industrial purposes [formerly Use 
Class B1 (c)]. Indeed, the applicant has written in support of his application to indicate that 
he envisages that there is a need for small light industrial units occupied by perhaps 1-2 
persons only. Given the proximity of the proposed commercial units to surrounding 
residential properties and, as will be noted in the next section of this Report, on-site parking 
provision is geared solely to providing space for staff, it is considered that it would not be 
appropriate to allow the full range of potential Class E uses in the proposed development. In 
this respect it is considered that use of the proposed units for the purposes of display or retail 
sale of goods…principally to visiting members of the public (previously Use Class A1); 
together with financial and professional services uses (previously Use Class A2); café and 
restaurant uses (previously Use Class A3); uses for indoor sport, recreation and fitness; and 
provision of medical health services; would not be compatible with the constraints of this site. 
In this respect it is considered appropriate to allow flexibility for the use of the proposed units 
for office, research and development and light industrial use within Use Class E only.  
 
It is considered that, subject to conditions, the proposed development would have an 
acceptable impact on neighbours in planning terms. 
 
5. Highways Considerations – 
 
Local Plan Policy IN2 sets out a number of criteria on which proposed developments are to 
be assessed in terms of highways impacts, including that the proposal:- 
 
“b. provides safe, suitable and convenient access for all potential users; 
d. provides appropriate parking provision; 
f. does not have a severe impact on the operation of, safety of, or accessibility to the local or 
strategic road networks;”  
In order to raise reasons for refusal to planning applications on highways grounds it is 
necessary for the Local Planning Authority to demonstrate with clear evidence that the 
proposals would give rise to a ‘severe’ impact to the safety and/or convenience of highway 
users. Accordingly, it is not possible to merely cite an adverse impact on highway safety 
and/or convenience : the adverse impact must now be demonstrably ‘severe’ and this is 
reflected in the wording of Policy IN2. 
 
The application is accompanied by a Transport Statement examining the detailed highway 
implications of the proposed development compared with the situation that would occur with 
the existing development/uses at the application site in operation to their full potential. 
 
Cove Road (B3014) is a busy main distributor road accommodating significant traffic 
throughout the day and evening. The Cove Road frontage in the vicinity of the application 
land is an extremely busy location in terms of highway traffic and movements. It contains a 
number of shops, restaurants and takeaways that need to be serviced and attract vehicular 
and pedestrian traffic from customers. There are also a number of residential flats above and 
behind the commercial uses generating further highway traffic. This is in addition to 
significant traffic that is simply passing through along Cove Road. The parking layby to the 
front has space for just 9 cars plus a bus-stop and there is a regular turnover of vehicles 
there. Parking restrictions elsewhere mean that spaces in the layby are well used and in 
constant demand, giving rise to much turnover vehicular movement and activity. 
 

Page 31



 

 
 

Both access driveways to the application land are only wide enough (approximately 3.1 
metres wide between buildings where they join the Cove Road pavement) for one-way 
vehicle movement for a length of approximately 20 metres until the application land broadens 
out. There is no possibility of two vehicles meeting each other being able to get past each 
other along the driveways. The sight-lines for the entrances are poor in respect of 
pedestrians using the adjoining pavement because they both exit between buildings directly 
onto the pavement, and vehicles must already be partially emerged onto the pavement 
before drivers can see along it. The sight-lines are poor in respect of vehicular traffic passing 
along Cove Road because the view of the road is obscured by vehicles parked in the 
adjoining parking lay-by. Drivers of vehicles seeking to join Cove Road must partially emerge 
onto the Cove Road carriageway projecting beyond the parked vehicles in order to clearly 
see whether or not traffic is approaching along Cove Road. The driveways do not just serve 
the use of the application land. Examination of the planning history of Cove Road frontage 
properties outside the application land reveals that some adjoining/nearby residential flats 
have parking spaces within the application land that are secured by planning conditions. 
Nos.46-48 Cove Road has a parking area to the rear that uses the adjoining driveway. The 
headroom and/or width of the driveways is limited on account of extract ducting fitted to the 
exterior of adjoining buildings. The access driveways are also a location used for the storage 
of both domestic and commercial refuse bins. Irrespective of the lawfulness of the existing 
driveways to serve the application land, they would not be of an acceptable standard were 
the proposals to be for an entirely new development on a new site. 
 
Nevertheless, this is the existing situation for the application land and, as a result, the 
Highway Authority (Hampshire County Council) is satisfied that the retention of these 
driveways configured to provide ‘In’ and ‘Out’ access and egress for the application land as 
proposed would not be likely to give rise to additional harm to the safety and convenience of 
highway users of sufficient magnitude to justify the refusal of the application on highway 
grounds. In this respect, the proposals do not increase the amount of commercial floorspace 
and, therefore the proposals are not considered likely to materially intensify the use of the 
application land.  
 
A total of 31 on-site standard car parking spaces are shown to be provided to serve the 
proposed development, largely arranged around the margins of the one-way vehicular 
circulation route. These proposed car parking spaces include 5 unallocated visitor car 
spaces, plus a further 8 spaces allocated to serve adjacent properties at Nos.30, 30A, 30B, 
30C, 32A, 32B and 34 (x2 spaces) Cove Road. The remaining 18 spaces are shown to be 
allocated equally for each of the proposed 9 Units; i.e. 2 spaces each.  
 
Non-residential parking standards are expressed as maximum standards in the Council’s 
adopted Parking Standards SPD (Principle 12). As such, it is considered that on-site parking 
for the proposed light industrial units is acceptable having regard to the modest size of the 
proposed Units. Similarly, it is not considered that it is necessary for the proposed Units to 
have designated service bays for the same reason. As a result of the amended site layout 
plan received on 1st February 2021, it is considered that the layout, geometry and allocation 
of the on-site car parking spaces is satisfactory. Although there would be a minor shortfall (of 
2 parking spaces overall) of the parking the applicants is obliged to provide as a result of 
planning conditions imposed with other planning permissions in respect of adjoining land, the 
applicant argues that the original requirement of Condition No.9 of planning permission 
94/00003/COU (the 1997 permission) for provision of a total of 10 car parking spaces was 
reduced by the effect of planning permission 08/00210/COU for the change of use of first-
floor offices to 3 X one-bedroom flats at 30A Cove Road. However, the 2008 permission did 
not remove or vary the requirements of the 1997 and, indeed, did not require the provision 

Page 32



 

 
 

and retention of any parking spaces at the application land by condition. Nevertheless, the 
2008 permission did permit the change the use of 30 Cove Road from commercial to 
residential, which was subsequently implemented, such that it is considered that the 
requirement of the 1997 permission for the provision of parking at the application land for this 
nearby property can be accepted at the reduced amount now shown to be provided.         
 
It is therefore considered that the proposed on-site car parking would meet the functional 
parking and servicing needs of the development and is acceptable.   
 
On-site locations for the storage of commercial waste bins and cycle parking are also shown 
within the proposed amended site layout and are considered to be satisfactory. Commercial 
waste is not collected by the Council and the developer/site operator and/or the occupiers of 
the proposed units will need to manage use and collection of the refuse containers. Although 
objection is raised in respect of concerns about waste disposal from the site, this is a 
requirement for any business operating at the application land as existing and it is not 
considered that the proposals would result in any material change sufficient to justify the 
refusal of planning permission. Given the small size of the individual Units it is not considered 
necessary for each Unit to be provided with their own bins, although it is considered that 
there would sufficient space for further bins to be stored on-site if necessary. Should 
individual tenants have specific requirements for waste disposal they would be expected to 
consider this when deciding whether a Unit within the development would meet their needs. 
 
Because the proposals do not give rise to any material increase in traffic generation, HCC 
Highways do not indicate a requirement for a Transport Contribution. 
 
It is considered that the proposals are acceptable in highways terms subject to the imposition 
of conditions requiring the provision and retention of the on-site car parking Unit allocated 
and visitor spaces as shown on the submitted amended plans solely for parking/servicing 
purposes for the use of occupiers and visitors to the proposed Units; no external storage 
(other than the identified bin storage and cycle parking areas); the provision of signage to 
assist in the operation of a one-way vehicle circulation; the retention of the allocated spaces 
to serve off-site users; and a Construction Management Plan.  
 
6. Impact on Wildlife – 
 
The current application has been submitted with an updated Preliminary Ecological Appraisal 
and Bat Building Assessment Report, which also contains the results of a Bat Emergence 
Survey. No evidence has been found of any bats being present at the site and, indeed, the 
potential for protected species to be located on site is very low. This is an update of ecology 
survey information submitted in respect of the 2018 appeal and on which the Inspector was 
satisfied that there was no longer any issue sufficient to justify the refusal of planning 
permission. The report submitted with the current application sets out some precautionary 
mitigation and biodiversity enhancement measures that are considered to be appropriate and 
proportionate to the proposals the subject of the application. Subject to a condition requiring 
the implementation of the precautionary mitigation measures set out in the submitted report it 
is considered that the requirements of Local Plan Policy NE4 are satisfied.  
 
7. Drainage Issues – 
 
The site is located within Flood Zone 1, which is land at the lowest risk of flooding. As a 
result, the Environment Agency raise no objections as standing advice and no mitigation 
measures in respect of flood risk are indicated as being necessary. 

Page 33



 

 
 

 
Local Plan Policy NE8 requires all new buildings and the development of car parking and 
hard standings to incorporate Sustainable Drainage Systems (SUDS). No such details are 
provided with the application, with the application forms simply indicating that site drainage 
would be directed to ‘mains sewer’. Although the proposals involve the construction of new 
buildings, in the case of proposed Units 5-9, these are replacements for existing buildings 
located in the same location on site. Although the proposed construction of Units 1-3 would 
increase the extent of hard-surfacing at the application land, the possible presence of ground 
contamination may mean that off-site disposal of surface water drainage (instead of using 
on-site soakaway) together with some form of temporary on-site drainage water storage and 
discharge rate control is the most appropriate solution. It is considered that this matter can 
be dealt with appropriately by the imposition of a suitably-worded planning condition and, as 
such, the requirements of Local Plan Policy NE8 would be met.   
 
8. Access for People with Disabilities – 
 
The proposed development should provide access for people with disabilities at least in 
accordance with Building Regulation requirements. It is considered that adequate means and 
measures would be incorporated into the development to achieve a good standard of access 
for people with disabilities, including provision of mobility accessible parking bays. 
 
Conclusions – The application is seeking planning permission for replacement and 
refurbished commercial units to enable the regeneration of an under-used lawful light 
industrial use on the application land. Subject to imposition of the recommended conditions it 
is considered that the proposed development is acceptable in principle; would have 
acceptable visual and highways impacts; would give rise to no material and undue impacts 
upon neighbours, trees to be retained, local wildlife and biodiversity; have no undue 
implications for flood risk and make appropriate provision for surface water drainage; and 
make acceptable provision for people with disabilities.  The proposals are therefore 
acceptable having regard to the requirements of Policies SS2, IN2, DE1, DE10, NE3, NE4, 
NE6, NE7 and NE8 of the adopted Rushmoor Local Plan (2014-2032). 
 
Full Recommendation 
 
It is recommended that planning permission be GRANTED subject to the following conditions 
and informatives:- 
 
1 The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of three years 

from the date of this permission.  
  
 Reason - As required by Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 as 

amended by Section 51 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004.  
 
 2 The permission hereby granted shall be carried out in accordance with the following 

approved drawings Drawing numbers: MLP/01 Revision 4 30th January 2021; 
GC/CIL/TJH 01L; GC/CIL/TJH 02K; GC/CIL/TJH 06K; GC/CIL/TJH 03K;  GC/CIL/TJH 
05K;   Planning, Design & Access Statement; Agent's second supporting letter;   
Agent's third supporting letter; Update Preliminary Ecological Appraisal & Preliminary 
Roost Assessment Report, Transport Statement; Sustainability/Viability Report; 
Contamination Report   Sapling Arboriculture Arborocultural Impact Assessment & 
Tree Survey Report. 

  

Page 34



 

 
 

 Reason - To ensure the development is implemented in accordance with the 
permission granted. 

 
3 Construction of the following elements of the development hereby approved shall not 

start until a schedule and/or samples of the  materials to be used in them  have been 
submitted to, and approved in writing by, the Local Planning Authority. Those 
elements of the development shall be carried out using the materials so approved and 
thereafter retained:  

 a. External finishing materials for the elevations and roof; and 
 b. Rainwater goods 
   
 Reason - To ensure satisfactory external appearance.* 
 
 4 Prior to occupation or use of any part of the development hereby approved, details of 

satisfactory provision for the storage and removal of refuse from the premises shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The 
development shall be carried out and retained in accordance with the details so 
approved. 

  
 Reason - To safeguard the amenities of the area. * 
 
 5 The use of the premises hereby permitted shall be restricted to the hours of 0730 

to1930 hours Monday to Friday; 0730 to 1800 hours Saturdays; and not at all on 
Sundays and Bank or Statutory Holidays. No machinery shall be operated, no process 
shall be carried out and no deliveries taken or despatched from the site outside the 
permitted hours of use. 

  
 Reason - To safeguard the amenities of neighbouring occupiers. 
 
 6 Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town & Country Planning (Use Classes) 

(Amendment) (England) Regulations 2020, (or any other Order revoking or re-
enacting that Order) the land and/or building(s) shall be used only for the purpose of 
offices, research & development and light industrial purposes (being uses which can 
be carried out in any residential area without detriment to the amenity of that area by 
reason of noise, vibration, smell, fumes, smoke, soot, ash, dust or grit) and for no 
other purpose, including any other purpose within Class E without the prior permission 
of the Local Planning Authority. 

  
 Reason - To protect the amenities of neighbouring residential properties and to 

prevent adverse impact on traffic and parking conditions in the vicinity. 
 
 7 Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted 

Development Order) 2015, (or any Order revoking and re-enacting that Order), no 
additional windows, doors or openings of any kind shall be inserted in the elevations 
of the development hereby permitted. 

  
 Reason - To protect the amenities of neighbouring residential properties. 
 
8 Construction or demolition work of any sort within the area covered by the application 

shall only take place between the hours of 0800-1800 on Monday to Fridays and 
0800-1300 on Saturdays.  No work at all shall take place on Sundays and Bank or 
Statutory Holidays. 

Page 35



 

 
 

  
 Reason - To protect the amenities of neighbouring residential properties and to 

prevent adverse impact on traffic and parking conditions in the vicinity. 
 
 9 The development hereby permitted shall comprise no more than 722 square metres of 

gross external floorspace unless with the prior written permission of the Local 
Planning Authority. 

  
 Reason - To accord with the proposals as submitted and in order that the Local 

Planning Authority can consider the planning implications of any increase in 
floorspace that may be proposed either as an extension or by internal installation of 
mezzanine floor areas. 

 
10 Prior to the commencement of development a Construction Management Plan to be 

adopted for the duration of the demolition, site clearance and construction period shall 
be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The details 
required in this respect shall include:- 

 (a) A programme of and phasing of demolition and construction work; 
(b) The provision of long term facilities for contractor parking; 
(c) The arrangements for deliveries associated with all construction works; 
(d) Methods and phasing of construction works; 
(e) Access and egress for plant and machinery; 
(f) Protection of pedestrian routes during construction; 
(g) Location of temporary site buildings, compounds, construction material,and plant 
storage areas; 
Demolition and construction work shall only take place in accordance with the 
approved method statement. 

 Such measures as may subsequently be approved shall be retained at all times as 
specified until all construction and fitting out works have been completed. 

  
 Reason - In the interests of the safety and convenience of adjoining and nearby 

residential properties, pollution prevention, and the safety and convenience of 
highway users. 

 
11  No works pursuant to this permission shall commence until there has been submitted 

to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority: - 
  
 i. a desk top study carried out by a competent person documenting all previous 

and existing uses of the site and adjoining land, and potential for contamination, with 
information on the environmental setting including known geology and hydrogeology. 
This report should contain a conceptual model, identifying potential contaminant 
pollutant linkages. 

 
ii. if identified as necessary; a site investigation report documenting the extent, 
scale and nature of contamination, ground conditions of the site and incorporating 
chemical and gas analysis identified as appropriate by the desk top study.  

  
 iii. if identified as necessary; a detailed scheme for remedial works and measures 

shall be undertaken to avoid risk from contaminants/or gas identified by the site 
investigation when the site is developed and proposals for future maintenance and 
monitoring, along with verification methodology. Such scheme to include nomination 
of a competent person to oversee and implement the works.  

Page 36



 

 
 

  
 Where  step iii) above is implemented, following completion of the measures identified 

in the approved remediation scheme a verification report that demonstrates the 
effectiveness of the remediation shall be submitted for approval in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority.  

  
 Reason - To ensure that the site is safe for the development permitted and in the 

interests of amenity and pollution prevention.* 
 
12 In the event that unforeseen ground conditions or materials which suggest potential or 

actual contamination are revealed at any time during implementation of the approved 
development it must be reported, in writing, immediately to the Local Planning 
Authority.  A competent person must undertake a risk assessment and assess the 
level and extent of the problem and, where necessary, prepare a report identifying 
remedial action which shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority before the measures are implemented.   

  
 Following completion of measures identified in the approved remediation scheme a 

verification report must be prepared and is subject to approval in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. 

  
 Reason - To ensure that the site is safe for the development permitted and in the 

interests of amenity and pollution prevention. 
 
13 With the exception of the siting of any receptacles for refuse disposal in the locations 

identified on the approved plans, no display or storage of goods, materials, plant, or 
equipment shall take place other than within the building. 

  
 Reason - To protect the visual amenities of the area and in the interests of ensuring 

the retention of adequate parking and vehicle manoeuvring and loading/unloading 
space on site. 

 
14 The development hereby permitted shall not be occupied and brought into use until 

the on-site car parking spaces and bicycle parking as shown on the plans hereby 
approved have been provided, marked and made available as shown on the approved 
plans. The car parking spaces shall be thereafter retained solely for parking purposes 
in accordance with the allocation identified on the approved plans and made available 
at all times for their intended users thereafter. For the avoidance of doubt the 
approved car parking spaces shall not be used at any time for the parking/storage of 
boats, caravans or trailers.  

  
 Reason - To ensure the provision and availability of adequate off-street parking for the 

proposed development. 
 
15 Prior to the first occupation of any of the units within the development hereby 

approved details of warning signage and/or markings to identify the one-way vehicular 
circulation around the site between the highway accesses shall be submitted to and 
approved by the Local Planning Authority. The details so approved shall be 
implemented in full and retained and maintained thereafter. 

  
 Reason - In the interests of the safety and convenience of occupiers and users of the 

development and highway users in general. 

Page 37



 

 
 

 
16 No occupation of the premises hereby approved shall take place until a scheme of 

provisions for the control of noise emanating from the premises hereby permitted has 
been implemented in accordance with details to be first submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority.  The approved scheme shall be implemented 
in full and retained and maintained thereafter. 

  
 Reason - To protect the amenity of neighbouring occupiers. * 
 
17 Details of any external plant or equipment (including air conditioning units) to be 

installed within the development hereby permitted shall be submitted to the Local 
Planning Authority for consideration and approval prior to installation and use. The 
external plant and equipment installations so approved shall be implemented as 
approved and retained and maintained in that condition thereafter. 

 Subsequently, no further external plant or equipment (including air conditioning units) 
shall be installed and operated at the site without the prior written consent of the Local 
Planning Authority. 

  
 Reason - To safeguard the character of the area and the amenities of nearby 

residents. 
 
18 No sound reproduction equipment, conveying messages, music, or other sound which 

is audible outside the premises hereby permitted shall be installed on the site. 
  
 Reason - To protect the amenity of neighbouring property. 
 
19 No works shall start on site until the existing trees and hedges which are to be 

retained have been adequately protected from damage during site clearance and 
works in accordance with the tree protection details set out in the Sapling 
Arboriculture Arboricultural Impact Assessment and Tree Survey Report submitted 
with the application hereby approved. 

  
 Reason - To preserve the amenity value of the retained tree(s)and shrubs. * 
 
20 Prior to the first occupation of the development hereby approved, details of all external 

lighting to be installed within the site and/or on the exterior of the building hereby 
permitted shall be submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority. The 
submitted details shall indicate the purpose/requirement for the lighting proposed and 
specify the intensity, spread of illumination and means of controlling the spread of 
illumination (where appropriate). The external lighting proposals as may subsequently 
be approved shall be implemented solely in accordance with the approved details and 
retained thereafter solely as such unless otherwise first agreed in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. With the exception of lighting identified and agreed as being 
necessarily required solely for maintaining the security of the site/building during night-
time hours, no other external lighting shall be used/operated during night-time hours 
(2300 to 0700 hours daily) unless otherwise first agreed in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. 

  
 Reason - In the interests of the amenities of nearby residential properties and the 

adjoining countryside; and to ensure that there is no unnecessary use of lighting at the 
site. 

 

Page 38



 

 
 

21 Prior to the commencement of development details of measures to incorporate 
Sustainable Drainage Systems (SUDS) into the development hereby approved shall 
be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Such details 
as may be approved shall be implemented in full prior to the first 

 occupation of the newly built units and retained and maintained thereafter in 
perpetuity. 

  
 Reason - To meet the requirements of Policy NE8 of the adopted Rushmoor Local 

Plan (2014-2032). in the interests of flood and pollution prevention. * 
 
22 The roller shutter doors comprising part of the development hereby approved shall be 

kept closed at all times except for the explicit purpose of ingress and egress of 
equipment and personnel.   

   
 Reason - To ensure satisfactory containment of noise within the building(s) in the 

interests of the amenities of neighbours. 
 
23 Provision shall be made for services to be placed underground. No overhead wire or 

cables or other form of overhead servicing shall be placed over or used in the 
development of the application site. 

  
 Reason - In the interests of visual amenity. 
 
24 The development hereby approved shall proceed implementing in full the 

precautionary ecology mitigation measures and biodiversity enhancements as set out 
in the Darwin Ecology Update Preliminary Ecological Appraisal and Preliminary Roost 
Assessment Report submitted with the application hereby approved. 

  
 Reason - To comply with the requirements of Policy NE4 of the adopted Rushmoor 

Local Plan (2014-2032). 
 
Informatives 
 
1     INFORMATIVE - REASONS FOR APPROVAL- The Council has granted permission 

because:- 
 

The application is seeking planning permission for replacement and refurbished 
commercial units to enable the regeneration of an under-used lawful light industrial 
use on the application land. Subject to imposition of the recommended conditions it is 
considered that the proposed development is acceptable in principle; would have 
acceptable visual and highways impacts; would give rise to no material and undue 
impacts upon neighbours, trees to be retained, local wildlife and biodiversity; have no 
undue implications for flood risk and make appropriate provision for surface water 
drainage; and make acceptable provision for people with disabilities.  The proposals 
are therefore acceptable having regard to the requirements of Policies SS2, IN2, DE1, 
DE10, NE3, NE4, NE6, NE7 and NE8 of the adopted Rushmoor Local Plan (2014-
2032). 

 
It is therefore considered that subject to compliance with the attached conditions, and 
taking into account all other material planning considerations, including the provisions 
of the development plan, the proposal would be acceptable.  This also includes a 

Page 39



 

 
 

consideration of whether the decision to grant permission is compatible with the 
Human Rights Act 1998.   

 
 2     INFORMATIVE - Your attention is specifically drawn to the conditions marked *.  

These condition(s) require either the submission and approval of details, information, 
drawings etc.by the Local Planning Authority BEFORE WORKS START ON SITE, 
BEFORE SPECIFIC ELEMENTS OF THE PROPOSAL ARE CARRIED OUT or, 
require works to be carried out BEFORE COMMENCEMENT OF USE OR FIRST 
OCCUPATION OF ANY BUILDING.   

 
Development started, carried out or occupied without first meeting the requirements of 
these conditions is effectively development carried out WITHOUT PLANNING 
PERMISSION.  

 
The Council will consider the expediency of taking enforcement action against any 
such development and may refer to any such breach of planning control when 
responding to local searches. Submissions seeking to discharge conditions or 
requests for confirmation that conditions have been complied with must be 
accompanied by the appropriate fee. 

 
 3     INFORMATIVE - The applicant is recommended to achieve maximum energy 

efficiency and reduction of Carbon Dioxide emissions by: 
a) ensuring the design and materials to be used in the construction of the building 

are consistent with these aims; and 
b) using renewable energy sources for the production of electricity and heat using 

efficient and technologically advanced equipment. 
 
 4     INFORMATIVE - The applicant is advised to follow good practice in the demolition of 

the existing building(s) on site including the re-use of all material arising from 
demolition as part of the redevelopment wherever practicable.   

 
 5     INFORMATIVE - Desk top studies and site investigation reports dealing with Land 

Contamination should be prepared in accordance with guidance in Contaminated 
Land Research Report Nos. 2 & 3 and BS10175: 2001 

 
 6     INFORMATIVE - No materials produced as a result of site preparation, clearance, or 

development should be burnt on site.  Please contact the Head of Operational 
Services for advice. 

 
 7     INFORMATIVE - The applicant is advised to contact the Head of Operational Services 

regarding the requirement to provide acoustic insulation.  Any scheme of acoustic 
insulation must be in accordance with the specifications provided in Schedule 1 of the 
Noise Insulation Regulations 1975 and must include details of acoustic mechanical 
ventilation and, where appropriate, solar control. 

 
 8    INFORMATIVE - The applicant is reminded that the premises should be made 

accessible to all disabled people, not just wheelchair users, in accordance with the 
duties imposed by the Equality Act 2010. This may be achieved by following 
recommendations set out in British Standard BS 8300: 2009 "Design of buildings and 
their approaches to meet the needs of disabled people - Code of Practice". Where 
Building Regulations apply, provision of access for disabled people to the premises 

Page 40



 

 
 

will be required in accordance with Approved Document M to the Building Regulations 
2000 "Access to and use of buildings". 

 
 9     INFORMATIVE - The applicant is advised that there may be a need to comply with the 

requirements of the Party Wall (etc.) Act 1996 before starting works on site.  The Party 
Wall (etc.) Act is not enforced or administered by the Council but further information 
can be found on the Planning Portal website https://www.gov.uk/guidance/party-wall-
etc-act-1996-guidance and you are able to download The party Wall Act 1996 
explanatory booklet. 

 
10     INFORMATIVE - The applicant is advised that during the demolition and construction 

phases of the development measures should be employed to contain and minimise 
dust emissions, to prevent their escape from the development site onto adjoining 
properties. For further information, please contact the Head of Operational Services. 

 
11    INFORMATIVE - It is a legal requirement to notify Thames Water of any proposed 

connection to a public sewer.  In many parts of its sewerage area, Thames Water 
provides separate public sewers for foul water and surface water.  Within these areas 
a dwelling should have separate connections: a) to the public foul sewer to carry 
waste from toilets, sinks and washing machines, etc, and b) to public surface water 
sewer for rainwater from roofs and surface drains.  Mis-connections can have serious 
effects:  i) If a foul sewage outlet is connected to a public surface water sewer this 
may result in pollution of a watercourse.  ii) If a surface water outlet is connected to a 
public foul sewer, when a separate surface water system or soakaway exists, this may 
cause overloading of the public foul sewer at times of heavy rain.  This can lead to 
sewer flooding of properties within the locality.  In both instances it is an offence to 
make the wrong connection. Thames Water can help identify the location of the 
nearest appropriate public sewer and can be contacted on 0800 316 9800. 

 
12     INFORMATIVE - The applicant is requested to bring the conditions attached to this 

permission to the attention of all contractors working or delivering to the site, in 
particular any relating to the permitted hours of construction and demolition; and 
where practicable to have these conditions on display at the site entrance(s) for the 
duration of the works. 

 
13 INFORMATIVE – The Local Planning Authority’s commitment to working with the 

applicants in a positive and proactive way is demonstrated by its offer of pre-
application discussion to all, and assistance in the validation and determination of 
applications through the provision of clear guidance regarding necessary supporting 
information or amendments both before and after submission, in line with the National 
Planning Policy Framework. 

 

Page 41



 

 
 

 

Page 42



 

 
 

 

Page 43



 

 
 

 

Page 44



 

 
 

 
 

Page 45



 

 
 

 

Page 46



 

 
 

 

Page 47



 

 
 

 

Page 48



 

 
 

 

Page 49



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 
 

Development Management Committee 
17th March 2021 

Item  6  
Report No. EPSH2108 

Section C 

The information, recommendations and advice contained in this report are correct as at the 
date of preparation, which is more than two weeks in advance of the Committee meeting.  
Because of these time constraints some reports may have been prepared in advance of the 
final date given for consultee responses or neighbour comment.  Any changes or necessary 
updates to the report will be made orally at the Committee meeting. 

Case Officer Katie Ingram 

Application No. 21/00109/RBCRG3 

Date Valid 18th February 2021 

Expiry date of 
consultations 

11th March 2021 

Proposal Variation of Conditions 8 and 12 of planning permission 
93/00079/FUL (for the erection of St Johns Ambulance HQ) to allow 
the use of the building as a Community Food Store (bank) and 
'Men’s Shed' with ancillary meeting rooms  (Use Class F2(b)) 

Address 2A Windsor Way Aldershot  

Ward Wellington 

Applicant Rushmoor Borough Council, Democracy and Community 

Recommendation Grant 

Description 
 
The application site is rectangular in shape and has a frontage to Windsor Way of 17m, and a 
depth of 37m, and is on the northern side of Windsor Way.  It is occupied by a facing brick 
building largely single storey in height with some roof accommodation and single dormers 
towards the rear. It has a low eaves height and a dual pitched roof, with the gable facing the 
street and is set back from the boundary with the highway by 14m. The front elevation is 
characterised by two vehicle entrance bays with metal roller shutter doors; and the main 
entrance is on the eastern side elevation.  The forecourt of tarmacadam hardstanding in front 
of the building, which is currently unmarked, accommodates five off-road parking spaces.  The 
front boundary has a wide dropped kerb and small brick wall while black painted steel palisade 
fencing secures the site along the side and rear boundaries with a locked gate next to the 
building.  The building has a footprint of 140sqm. 
 
Purpose built as a St Johns Ambulance HQ following approval of planning permission 
93/00079/FUL in April 1993, internally the building comprises, on the ground floor, a garage 
40sqm in size at the front and at the rear, a meeting/community room of 50 sqm and a kitchen, 
store rooms and toilets.  On the first floor are 3 small offices/meeting rooms with a combined 
floor area of 30sqm.  In October 2002 planning application 02/00658/FUL for the erection of 
2.4m high security fencing with gates and fire escape was approved and implemented.     
 
The site is owned by Rushmoor Borough Council and, prior to the 1993 planning application, 

Page 51



 

 
 

the site was a Council-owned car park.  St Johns Ambulance vacated the building in 2017 and, 
other than some intermittent use as a community space, it has been unoccupied since. 
 
Adjoining the site to the east is the Holy Trinity Church Hall (Galpin Hall), and the Holy Trinity 
Church.  The Church is a Grade II Listed Building.  To the west are the rear gardens of 
properties 2a to 14 Arthur Street.  Opposite the site is Kingsley Court which is sheltered 
housing comprising 68 flats.  Further south west on Windsor Way are some light 
industrial/warehouse and storage units.  The site is 90m north of Aldershot Train Station. 
 
Conditions from planning permission 93/00079/FUL relevant to this planning permission are: 
 
‘8. Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (Use Classes) Order, 

1987, (or any other order revoking or re-enacting that Order) the building shall be used 
only for St John Ambulance Service purposes and for no other purpose, including any 
other purpose within Use Class D, unless the Local Planning Authority otherwise first 
agrees in writing. 

 
Reason – To enable the Local Planning Authority to retain control over the use to ensure 
that any future use does not prejudice the amenities of adjoining residential properties 
and, to ensure adequate on-site parking.’ 

 
‘12. The garage shall only be used for the parking of vehicles ancillary and incidental to the 

use of the premises and shall be retained thereafter solely for that purpose and made 
available at all times for parking purposes unless the Local Planning Authority otherwise 
first agrees in writing. 

 
Reason – To preserve the amenities of the neighbourhood and ensure the provision of 
off-street parking facilities.’ 

 
The application is seeking planning permission to vary or remove the above conditions to allow 
a change of use of the premises from a St Johns Ambulance HQ to a community centre, to be 
used specifically as a Community Food Bank and Storage area with a small ‘Men’s Shed’ 
initiative workshop.  The ancillary meeting rooms will be used for one to one support and small-
scale meeting and training purposes for example, for organisations like NHS Smoking 
Cessation, the Men’s Shed Initiative, and nutrition and cooking training, etc.     
 
The Design and Access Statement states that deliveries to, and collections from the site will 
be low-level and will likely be via individuals/volunteers in their personal vehicles on an ad-hoc 
basis and by a small van no more than twice a week.  The ‘Community Food Store’ is likely to 
open on a phased basis, to gauge local response, initially for one or two mornings a week, and 
when open will always be staffed by at least two volunteers.  Longer term, the overall site will 
be managed via a paid role under the community food partnership.   
 
The proposed use is now classified as Use Class F2(b) Local Community Use (Community 
Hall) in the Town and Country Planning Use Classes Order, 1987, as Use Class D (Non 
Residential Institutions) was revoked by the Government with effect from 1st September 2020.  
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 52



 

 
 

Consultee Responses  
 
HCC Highways Development 
Planning 

No objection 

 
Conservation Team No objection 

 
Environmental Health No objection 

 
Neighbours notified 
 
In addition to posting a site notice, 106 individual letters of notification were sent to adjoining 
and nearby properties.   
 
Neighbour comments 
 
To date, one representation has been received, supporting the application: 
 
10 Kingsley Court, Windsor Way I am very pleased it is proposed to be used for a Food Bank 

which the Holy Trinity Church applied to buy and was 
refused.  It should have been done a year ago.  I hope this is 
passed asap and I should like to support the application 
100%.  We can all donate from here  and do our bit to help. 

 
Committee Members will be updated on whether any further representations were received at 
the Meeting, as the notification period expires subsequent to publication date of the agenda. 
  
Policy and determining issues 
 
The application site is located in the built-up area of Aldershot 50m outside the Town Centre 
boundary.  It is 35m west of Holy Trinity Church, which is a Grade II Listed Building.  Policies 
SS2 (Spatial Strategy), IN1 (Infrastructure and Community Facilities), IN2 (Transport), DE1 
(Design in the Built Environment) and HE1 (Heritage) of the adopted Rushmoor Local Plan are 
relevant to the application as well as the Rushmoor Car and Cycle Parking SPD (2017).  
 
The main issues are the principle of development, the impact on the character and appearance 
of the site and surrounding area, the impact on neighbouring amenity, parking and highway 
considerations and accessibility. 
 
Commentary 
 
1. Principle of development - 

 
The proposed development will not result in a loss of community facilities and will therefore 
comply with the provisions of Policy IN1 (Infrastructure and Community Facilities).  The site is 
located in the built-up area of Aldershot where the principle of the proposed development is 
acceptable, subject to compliance with normal development control criteria.   

 
2. Impact on character and appearance of site and surrounding area - 

 
The application will bring back into use a previously vacant site which will have a positive 
impact.  The proposal does not have an impact on the setting of the Grade II Listed Holy Trinity 

Page 53



 

 
 

Church by virtue of the fact that there will be no alterations to the external elevations.  Any 
proposed signage which is not ‘deemed’ or ‘express’ consent under the Advertising and 
Signage Regulations (2007) will be subject to a separate application.  The application has an 
acceptable impact on the character of the site and surrounding area and complies with Policies 
DE1 and HE1 of the adopted Rushmoor Local Plan in this regard. 

 
3. Impact on neighbouring amenity - 
 
The site is adjoined to the west and north by the 1.8m high rear garden walls and fences of 2-
14 Arthur Street (which are residential properties) and 59 to 63 Victoria Road (which are mixed-
use commercial and residential properties).  There is a 1 metre wide paved path around the 
building separating it from these boundaries.  The ‘Community Food Store’ and/or ‘Men’s Shed’ 
initiative will initially be open one or two days a week for limited hours to gauge local demand.  
During the week, food deliveries will be low-level, taking place by individuals in personal 
vehicles or by a mini-bus once or twice a week.  It is considered that the proposed change of 
use will therefore have a limited impact on neighbouring amenity and no more than the existing 
lawful use.   The proposed use will have no more impact on neighbouring amenity than the 
existing lawful use on the site.  The Council’s Environmental Health Officer has raised no 
objection to the proposal.   It is considered the application will have an acceptable impact on 
neighbouring amenity and will comply with Policy DE1 of the adopted Rushmoor Local Plan in 
this regard.  
 
4. Highway considerations - 

 
The site has five parking spaces.  Community halls require 1 space per 10sqm in the adopted 
Parking Standards SPD, equating to a requirement of approximately 9-11 spaces.  The existing 
lawful use operated under a similar shortfall.   Principle 12 of the Parking Standards SPD states 
that non-residential development is not expected to meet the maximum parking standards to 
minimise car use where the site is appropriately located.  It is in a sustainable location easy to 
access and in close proximity to the town centre, bus stops and the train station.  The Design 
and Access Statement says that customers and participants will be encouraged to walk and 
most parking will be reserved for volunteers and for food drop-off and pick up purposes.  There  
is 1 hour street parking outside the site on Windsor Way for approximately 5 vehicles, and the 
remainder of the highway is restricted at all times so the use would not result in an adverse  
impact on highway safety.  The County Highway Authority has reviewed the application and 
raised no objection. 
 
The proposed use would have an acceptable impact on highway safety and in this regard 
complies with Policy IN2 of the adopted Rushmoor Local Plan. 
 
5. Access for people with disabilities - 
 
The site and ground floor areas retain an existing fully accessible entrance. 
 
Conclusions - 
 
The principle of the proposed development is acceptable.  It will have an acceptable impact on 
the character of the site and surrounding area, the setting of the nearby Grade II Listed 
Building, on neighbouring amenity and on highway safety, and the ground floor is fully 
accessible.  The application complies with Policies DE1, HE1, IN1 and IN2 of the adopted 
Rushmoor Local Plan and the Rushmoor Car and Cycle Parking Standards SPD (2017). 
 

Page 54



 

 
 

Full Recommendation 
 
It is recommended that SUBJECT to no substantial objections being received before the expiry 
of the neighbour notification period on 11 March 2021, the Head of Economy, Planning 
&Strategic Housing, in consultation with the Chairman, be authorised to GRANT planning 
permission subject to the following conditions and informatives:- 
 
1 The permission hereby granted shall be carried out in accordance with the following 

approved drawings numbers: Location Plan scale 1:1250, Existing Site Plan scale 
1:100, Existing north elevation 6 dated 29/08/02, Existing south elevation  3 dated 
29/08/02 , Existing east elevation 5 29/08/02, Existing west elevation 4 dated 29/08/02, 
Existing ground floor plan 01,  Existing First Floor Plan 02, Proposed Ground Floor Plan 
03, Proposed First Floor Plan 04, Proposed Site Plan 05.  

  
Reason - To ensure the development is implemented in accordance with the permission 
granted 

 
2 The development hereby approved shall not be occupied until the off-street parking 

facilities shown on Proposed Site Plan 05 have been marked out and made ready for 
use by the development. The parking facilities shall be thereafter retained solely for 
parking purposes. 

  
  Reason - To ensure the provision and availability of adequate off-street parking. 
 

3 Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (Use Classes) Order, 
1987, (or any other Order revoking or re-enacting that Order) the land and/or building 
shall be used only for the purpose of a Community Food Bank/Store, 'Men's Shed' 
workshop and ancillary meeting room space; and for no other purpose, including any 
other purpose within Class F2, without the prior permission of the Local Planning 
Authority. 

  
Reason - To protect the amenities of neighbouring residential properties and to prevent 
adverse impact on traffic and parking conditions in the vicinity. 

 
Informatives 

 
1 INFORMATIVE – The Local Planning Authority’s commitment to working with the 

applicants in a positive and proactive way is demonstrated by its offer of pre-application 
discussion to all, and assistance in the validation and determination of applications 
through the provision of clear guidance regarding necessary supporting information or 
amendments both before and after submission, in line with the National Planning Policy 
Framework. 

 
 
  2 INFORMATIVE - REASONS FOR APPROVAL- The Council has granted permission 

because the principle of the proposed development is acceptable and the proposed 
development will have an acceptable impact on the character of the site and surrounding area, 
the setting of the nearby Grade II Listed Building, on neighbouring amenity and on highway 
safety, and the ground floor is fully accessible, and it complies with Policies DE1, HE1, IN1 
and IN2 of the adopted Rushmoor Local Plan and the Rushmoor Car and Cycle Parking 
Standards SPD (2017). 

 

Page 55



 

 
 

It is therefore considered that subject to compliance with the attached conditions, and taking 
into account all other material planning considerations, including the provisions of the 
development plan, the proposal would be acceptable.  This also includes a consideration of 
whether the decision to grant permission is compatible with the Human Rights Act 1998.   

 
  

Page 56



 

 
 

 
 

Page 57



 

 
 

 
 
 

Page 58



 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 59



 

 
 

 
 
 

Page 60



 

 
 

 

 

Page 61



 

 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 62



 

 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 63



 

 
 

 

Page 64



Section D

The following applications are reported for INFORMATION purposes only.  They relate to 

applications, prior approvals, notifications, and consultations that have already been 

determined by the Head of Economy, Planning and Strategic Housing and where 

necessary, in consultation with the Chairman, in accordance with the Council’s adopted 

Scheme of Delegation.

If Members wish to have more details about the decision on any of the applications on 

this list please contact David Stevens (01252 398738) or John W Thorne (01252 398791) 

in advance of the Committee meeting.

Application No 20/00518/FULPP

Applicant: Grainger (Aldershot) Limited

Decision: Permission Granted

Proposal: Temporary construction compound and working area with associated 
tree removal and replacement woodland planting scheme.

Address Temporary Construction Compound On Land South Of Government 

Road Aldershot Hampshire  

Decision Date: 11 February 2021

Ward: Wellington

Application No 20/00741/FULPP

Applicant: Alex Garage Ltd

Decision: Permission Granted

Proposal: Installation of external flue associated with exhaust extraction and 
external cladding

Address Unit 3 Pavilion Road Aldershot Hampshire GU11 3NX 

Decision Date: 05 March 2021

Ward: Rowhill

Application No 20/00883/FULPP

Applicant: Mr and Mrs Woodhams

Decision: Permission Granted

Proposal: Proposed single storey and rear extensions to existing Annex and 
proposed single storey rear extension to existing detached garage

Address 1 Empress Avenue Farnborough Hampshire GU14 8LU 

Decision Date: 15 February 2021

Ward: Empress

Page 65



Application No 20/00907/FULPP

Applicant: Mr Fraz Zaman

Decision: Permission Granted

Proposal: Widening of existing dropped kerbs, erection of MOT bay, alteration of 
workshop and continued use of premises as a mixed use comprising 
MOT testing station and vehicle repairs

Address The Old Bakery Hawley Road Blackwater Camberley Hampshire 

GU17 9ES 

Decision Date: 10 February 2021

Ward: Fernhill

Application No 20/00917/FULPP

Applicant: Aline Miura

Decision: Permission Granted

Proposal: External alterations and erection of a single storey side and rear 
extension

Address 14 Park Road Aldershot Hampshire GU11 3PU 

Decision Date: 15 February 2021

Ward: Manor Park

Application No 20/00920/COND

Applicant: Louise Taylor

Decision: Conditions not complied with

Proposal: Compliance of condition 11 of application 96/00728/FUL (Erection of 9 
three bedroom dwellings and 4 two bedroom dwellings on Land Adjacent 
Ticehurst And Whitchurch Close)

Address 468 Whitchurch Close Aldershot Hampshire GU11 3RU 

Decision Date: 16 February 2021

Ward: Aldershot Park

Application No 20/00927/FULPP

Applicant: Roz Draper - Martin

Decision: Permission Granted

Proposal: Erection of a two storey rear extension and formation of pitched roof over 
existing front porch

Address 21 Faraday Road Farnborough Hampshire GU14 8BW 

Decision Date: 08 February 2021

Ward: Empress

Page 66



Application No 20/00934/FULPP

Applicant: MR HOWE

Decision: Permission Granted

Proposal: Erection of two storey front and rear extensions, raising of roof ridge 
height and formation of 5 dormer windows to form a loft conversion and 
erection of a detached garage

Address 3 The Crescent Farnborough Hampshire GU14 7AH 

Decision Date: 10 February 2021

Ward: Knellwood

Application No 20/00936/FULPP

Applicant: Mr Stuart Wyeth

Decision: Permission Granted

Proposal: Retention of a single storey rear extension

Address 129 St Michaels Road Aldershot Hampshire GU12 4JW 

Decision Date: 15 February 2021

Ward: Manor Park

Application No 20/00940/FUL

Applicant: Mr R Brunt

Decision: Permission Granted

Proposal: Retention of an outbuilding in rear garden of property

Address Brading 9 Rosemary Close Farnborough Hampshire GU14 9RQ 

Decision Date: 24 February 2021

Ward: St John's

Application No 20/00944/FULPP

Applicant: Mr and Mrs Harris

Decision: Permission Granted

Proposal: Erection of a two storey side extension and relief of condition 21 of 
planning permission RSH 03890 dated 28.11.1983 to allow demolition of 
existing garage

Address 12 Briars Close Farnborough Hampshire GU14 0PB 

Decision Date: 02 March 2021

Ward: Cove And Southwood

Page 67



Application No 20/00950/FULPP

Applicant: Max Vialou-Clark

Decision: Permission Granted

Proposal: Formation of three window openings on ground floor side elevation

Address 19 - 20 Hercules Way Farnborough Hampshire GU14 6UU 

Decision Date: 02 March 2021

Ward: St Mark's

Application No 21/00001/FULPP

Applicant: Mr & Mrs Seehra

Decision: Permission Granted

Proposal: Erection of a two storey rear extension, installation of garage door and 
new roof on existing porch

Address The Coach House 5 Hillside Road Aldershot Hampshire GU11 3LX 

Decision Date: 01 March 2021

Ward: Rowhill

Application No 21/00002/FUL

Applicant: Mr Michael Taylor

Decision: Permission Granted

Proposal: Erection of a single storey side and rear extension

Address 17 Gravel Road Farnborough Hampshire GU14 6JJ 

Decision Date: 11 February 2021

Ward: St Mark's

Application No 21/00003/FULPP

Applicant: Mr Gavin Pidduck

Decision: Permission Granted

Proposal: Siting of a Point of Presence Telecommunications container on a 
concrete base, together with two equipment cabinets within a compound 
formed by weld-mesh fencing, to facilitate rollout of Gigabit Full-Fibre 
High-Speed Broadband

Address Manor Park Nurseries Church Hill Aldershot Hampshire GU12 4JU 

Decision Date: 02 March 2021

Ward: Manor Park

Page 68



Application No 21/00004/FULPP

Applicant: Barclays Bank

Decision: Permission Granted

Proposal: Removal of 2no existing ATMs and 1no existing night safe from front 
facade of building

Address 101 Victoria Road Aldershot Hampshire GU11 1JE 

Decision Date: 01 March 2021

Ward: Manor Park

Application No 21/00006/PRIORP

Applicant: Mr Smith

Decision: Prior approval is NOT required

Proposal: Application for determination as to whether Prior Approval is required for: 
Roof-mounted photovoltaic scheme

Address 2 Pinehurst Road Farnborough Hampshire GU14 7BF 

Decision Date: 24 February 2021

Ward: Empress

Application No 21/00007/TPO

Applicant: Mr Malcom

Decision: Permission Granted

Proposal: T1 Oak Tree - Crown reduce by no more than 1.5 metres and reduce 
epicormic growth on lower stem (T15 of TPO350A)

Address 5 Chalfont Drive Farnborough Hampshire GU14 6SJ 

Decision Date: 11 February 2021

Ward: Knellwood

Application No 21/00008/FULPP

Applicant: Sian Smith

Decision: Permission Granted

Proposal: Erection of single storey  front, side and rear extension with a hip to 
gable roof to form a dormer within the side facing roof slope

Address 17 Glebe Road Farnborough Hampshire GU14 8QS 

Decision Date: 01 March 2021

Ward: West Heath

Page 69



Application No 21/00012/FULPP

Applicant: Mr Luke Maes

Decision: Permission Granted

Proposal: Erection of a single storey front, side and rear extension

Address 70 Chiltern Avenue Farnborough Hampshire GU14 9SG 

Decision Date: 03 March 2021

Ward: St John's

Application No 21/00014/FUL

Applicant: Mr Paul Nelson

Decision: Permission Granted

Proposal: Erection of a single storey rear extension and relocation of existing 
canopy

Address 125 Church Lane East Aldershot Hampshire GU11 3ST 

Decision Date: 15 February 2021

Ward: Manor Park

Application No 21/00015/NMAPP

Applicant: Churchill Retirement Living

Decision: Permission Granted

Proposal: Non-material amendment to planning permission 20/00153/REVPP 
(erection of 42 apartments (26 one bedroom and 16 two bedroom) for the 
elderly (sixty years of age and/or partner over fifty five years of age) and 
associated works, to allow for internal alterations, change of tax window 
to glazed window and the installation of photovoltaic panels

Address 110 - 118 Victoria Road Farnborough Hampshire  

Decision Date: 04 March 2021

Ward: Empress

Application No 21/00020/FULPP

Applicant: Tracey May

Decision: Permission Granted

Proposal: Conversion of garage and erection of a two storey side extension

Address 56 Birchett Road Farnborough Hampshire GU14 8RQ 

Decision Date: 10 February 2021

Ward: West Heath

Page 70



Application No 21/00021/FULPP

Applicant: Mr & Mrs Ledgerwood

Decision: Permission Granted

Proposal: Demolition of garage and erection of 2 storey side extension, extension 
of porch, internal alterations and erection of single storey detached 
parking barn

Address 87 Salisbury Road Farnborough Hampshire GU14 7AE 

Decision Date: 11 February 2021

Ward: Knellwood

Application No 21/00023/REXPD

Applicant: Mihail Namistiuc

Decision: Prior Approval Required and Granted

Proposal: Erection of a single storey rear extension measuring 8 metres from the 
original rear wall, 2.7 metres to the eaves and 3 metres in overall height 
and erection of a single storey side extension which projects 8m in length 
from the original rear wall (Side extension 16.4m in total) 2.7 to the eaves 
and 3m in overall height

Address 5 Highfield Path Farnborough Hampshire GU14 0HN 

Decision Date: 11 February 2021

Ward: Cove And Southwood

Application No 21/00024/TPO

Applicant: Mr Parkin

Decision: Permission Granted

Proposal: T13 Birch Tree - Fell   replace: Dying Birch with Razor-strop fungus (T13 
of TPO432A)

Address 4 Waverley Road Farnborough Hampshire GU14 7EY 

Decision Date: 11 February 2021

Ward: Knellwood

Page 71



Application No 21/00025/FULPP

Applicant: Ms N Bilcliff

Decision: Permission Granted

Proposal: Erection of a single storey rear extension with roof light and part 
conversion of existing garage into a habitable room

Address 44 Randolph Drive Farnborough Hampshire GU14 0QQ 

Decision Date: 11 February 2021

Ward: Cove And Southwood

Application No 21/00028/TPOPP

Applicant: Ms A Lovejoy

Decision: Permission Granted

Proposal: T1 Oak - Crown lift the lower canopy by no more than 5m from ground 
level by removing the first 3no. northern laterals branches by taking them 
back to source with cuts no greater than 100mm. This will allow some 
natural light into the garden. Northern aspect of the canopy, reduce the 
lateral second and tertiary foliage away from the property by no more 
than 1.5m, cuts no greater than 35mm stem diameter. Top canopy, 
reduce in height by no more than 2m so that it will blend into the Oak tree 
canopy behind, with cuts no greater than 75mm and feather back into the 
crown (Tree within G2 of TPO352A)

Address 39 Marlborough View Farnborough Hampshire GU14 9YA 

Decision Date: 16 February 2021

Ward: St John's

Application No 21/00032/FULPP

Applicant: Mr and Mrs L Mappley

Decision: Permission Granted

Proposal: Erection of first floor side extension

Address 30 The Copse Farnborough Hampshire GU14 0QD 

Decision Date: 04 March 2021

Ward: Cove And Southwood

Page 72



Application No 21/00033/TPOPP

Applicant: Mr Gurung

Decision: Permission Granted

Proposal: One Oak (T13 of TPO 396A) reduction of canopy by no more than 4 
metres and crown lift to no more than 6 metres from ground level and 
remove epicormic growth

Address 1 Wood End Farnborough Hampshire GU14 7BA 

Decision Date: 16 February 2021

Ward: Knellwood

Application No 21/00036/EDCPP

Applicant: Mr James Killington

Decision: Development is Lawful

Proposal: Lawful Development Certificate for an existing development: Double hip 
to gable crown roof rear dormer to include 3 rooflights to the front 
elevation and 2 UPVC windows to the rear elevation

Address 30 Ayling Lane Aldershot Hampshire GU11 3LZ 

Decision Date: 23 February 2021

Ward: Rowhill

Application No 21/00037/FULPP

Applicant: Mr Zsolt Antal

Decision: Permission Granted

Proposal: Erection of a timber pergola to rear with a corrugated polycarbonate roof

Address 28 Hayloft Close Aldershot Hampshire GU12 4DS 

Decision Date: 02 March 2021

Ward: North Town

Application No 21/00039/TPO

Applicant: Mr Dominic Freeman

Decision: Permission Granted

Proposal: One Oak (T8 of TPO 101) reduce crown overall by no more than two 
metres

Address 56 Dart Road Farnborough Hampshire GU14 9PF 

Decision Date: 16 February 2021

Ward: St John's

Page 73



Application No 21/00041/CONDPP

Applicant: Mr & Mrs Nasir

Decision: Conditions details approved

Proposal:  Submission of details pursuant to Condition 3 (details of sliding gate 
including materials)attached to planning permission 20/00495/FULPP 
dated 09 September  2020

Address Hillsborough 8 Hillside Road Aldershot Hampshire GU11 3NB 

Decision Date: 18 February 2021

Ward: Rowhill

Application No 21/00043/FULPP

Applicant: Mr Richard Todd

Decision: Permission Granted

Proposal: Erection of a conservatory to rear

Address 8 Stourhead Close Farnborough Hampshire GU14 7HF 

Decision Date: 04 March 2021

Ward: Knellwood

Application No 21/00047/PDCPP

Applicant: Owen Vidler

Decision: Development is Lawful

Proposal: Lawful Development Certificate For Proposed Development: Formation 
of a dormer within rear facing slope and 2 roof lights within front facing 
roof slope to facilitate loft conversion

Address 37 Brighton Road Aldershot Hampshire GU12 4HG 

Decision Date: 02 March 2021

Ward: Aldershot Park

Application No 21/00051/TPOPP

Applicant: Mr Peter Edwards

Decision: Permission Granted

Proposal: One Eucalyptus (T6 of TPO 294) pollard outer canopy to previous points 
and strip internal growth to secondary stems

Address 14 Fleet Road Farnborough Hampshire GU14 9RA 

Decision Date: 22 February 2021

Ward: St John's

Page 74



Application No 21/00058/HCC

Applicant: Hampshire County Council

Decision: No Objection

Proposal: HAMPSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL CONSULTATION : Recladding of the 
existing SCOLA B-Block and installation of three double temporary 
modular classrooms for the duration of the proposed cladding works

Address The Wavell School Lynchford Road Farnborough Hampshire GU14 

6BH 

Decision Date: 03 March 2021

Ward: St Mark's

Page 75



This page is intentionally left blank



Development Management  Committee   
17 March 2021 

Planning Report No.EPSH2109  

Appeals Progress Report 
  

 

1. Appeal decision  
 
1.1 244 Farnborough Road, Farnborough  
 

Appeal against refusal of planning permission for “Erection of a three-storey 
building comprising flexible use of either A1/A2 on ground floor with 2 x two-
bedroom residential units to the upper floors and associated parking” 
(20/00127/FULPP). Permission refused for the following reasons: 

 
1. “The proposal does not provide the required number of off-road residential 

parking spaces under the adopted Rushmoor Borough Council Parking 
Standards SPD (2017) and would not meet the operational needs of the 
proposed development.  It also fails to demonstrate that adequate cycle storage 
for the residential use of the sit can be provided.  It is therefore contrary to Policy 
IN2 of the Rushmoor Local Plan (2019) and Principles 3,6 and 18 of the 
Rushmoor Car and Cycle Parking Standards SPD (2017). 
 

2. The proposed development, by reason of lack of available space in the 
communal service yard because it is shared with the adjoining building 244-248 
Farnborough Road, 244A Farnborough Road and 1 and 1A Salisbury Road, 
has failed to demonstrate that it can provide adequate refuse storage areas for 
the proposed building and this would have a materially adverse impact on 
occupant amenity and in this regard the proposal is contrary to Policy IN2 of the 
Rushmoor Local Plan (2019). 
 

3. The proposal fails to make provision for an appropriate Special Protection Area 
Mitigation and Avoidance contribution towards suitable accessible natural 
green space, and strategic access management measures in order to address 
the impact of the proposed development upon the nature conservation interest 
and objectives of the Thames Basin Heaths Special Protection Area.  The 
proposal is thereby contrary to the requirements of the Habitats Regulations, 
Policy NE1 of the adopted New Rushmoor Local Plan (2014-2032) and save 
Policy NRM6 of the South East Plan”.  

 
1.2 In determining the appeal, the Inspector considered the main issues to be i) 

whether there was adequate provision for off-road vehicle and cycle parking, ii) 
whether there was adequate provision for refuse storage, and iii) the effect of 
the proposed development on the integrity of the Thames Basin Heaths Special 
Protection Area. 

 
1.3 The Inspector did not support the Council’s reason for refusal regarding the 

shortfall in provision of off-road car parking spaces.  He argued the proximity to 
the site of town centre services, employment opportunities and the train station 
justified non-compliance with the Council’s residential Parking Standards, given 
the minor shortfall in required spaces in the particular scheme represented.  

Page 77

AGENDA ITEM No. 4



 
1.4 The Inspector considered that due to a number of existing and competing 

demands in the rear service yard from the surrounding buildings and the 
proposed development, that the proposed refuse and recycling storage 
arrangements were poor.  He supported the Council’s reason for refusal in this 
regard and given the uncertainly around these demands, he did not feel that a 
condition would be appropriate to resolve this issue.  The Inspector felt that the 
proposal was contrary to Policy IN2 of the adopted Local Plan in relation to 
provision of refuse storage. 

 
1.5 The Inspector had no evidence before him, by an agreement or planning 

obligation, that measures had been implemented to mitigate the impact of the 
scheme upon the Thames Basin Heaths Special Protection Area.  He 
concluded that the proposed development would harm the integrity of the SPA 
and that the application was contrary to Policy NE1 of the Rushmoor Local Plan, 
Policy NRM6 of the South East Plan and the NPPF. 

 
1.6 The appellant applied for costs on the grounds that the Council had 

demonstrated an inconsistent approach to advice and the determination of the 
application considering previous history on the site.  The Inspector concluded 
that whilst this differed from previous decisions, there had been a change in 
circumstances since then, namely, a new policy framework. The decision of the 
Council was not inconsistent, and unreasonable behaviour had not been 
demonstrated. 

 
DECISION: APPEAL DISMISSED and APPLICATION FOR COSTS DISMISSED 
 
1.   New Appeals 

 
1.1. Two new appeals have been received and ‘started’ by the Planning 

Inspectorate since the last committee meeting.  
 

1.2. 68 Salisbury Road, Farnborough, GU14 7AG: Against the refusal of a 
Certificate Of Lawful Existing Use: Use of dwellinghouse as a House in Multiple 
Occupation with 8 bedsitting rooms and shared facilities. (19/00237/EDC). The 
decision was made under delegated powers, the Appeal will be considered by 
way of the written method. 
 

1.3. The Chestnuts, 34 Church Circle, Farnborough, GU14 6QQ: Against the 
Refusal of Planning Permission for the formation of a dormer window to the 
front of the garage roof to facilitate a habitable room. The decision was made 
under delegated powers and the Appeal will be considered by way of the ‘fast 
track householder’ appeal process.  

 
2.  Recommendation 
 
2.1 It is recommended that the report be NOTED.  
  
Tim Mills 
Head of Economy, Planning and Strategic Housing   

Page 78


	Agenda
	1 Declarations of interest
	2 Minutes
	Appendix A
	Appendix B

	3 Planning Applications
	Sections A and B - Items to be considered at future meetings and petitions received
	Section C - Item 5 - Nos. 26 - 40 Cove Road, Farnborough - 20/00856/FULPP
	Section C - Item 6 - No. 2A Windsor Way, Aldershot - 21/00109/RBCRG3
	Section D - Planning applications determined under the Council's Scheme of Delegation

	4 Appeals Progress Report



